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We are a leading provider of high-end IT services and solutions to defense,

intelligence, and civilian agencies.
We derive substantially all our revenue from contracts performed for Federal Government agencies with the

majority of our revenue currently generated from the delivery of mission-critical IT services to defense and

intelligence agencies. We focus on designing, implementing, maintaining, and upgrading secure |T systems
mm_

Over the past three years, we won more than 90% of the competitively awarded prime engagements on
he incumbent and eligible for award. In 2005, we were awarded task orders and single
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We have highly skilled employees and an experienced management team.
We deliver our services through a highly skilled workforcé of approximately 1,400 employees, of which
approximately 71% possess at least one security clearance, and approximately 36% possess clearance
levels of Top Secret or higher. About 71% of our employees have formal degrees, and the majority of

them hold technicai certifications. Our senior managers average more than 25 years of experience with
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WMessage from the Chairman and the President

Charles K.Narang Chairman and CEO Michael W. Selley President

“With solid performance across
the board, 2005 was an excellent
vear for NCI. We achieved 12%
revenue growth to $191.3 million
and our operating income
increased by 45%. This growth
continues to advance our position
as a Jeader in high-end IT services

and solutions.”

Since our founding more than a decade and a half ago, our top
priorities have been to build relationships based upon trust,
integrity, and performance, and consistently deliver on our commit-
ments to our customers, employees, and partners.

In terms of new relationships and commitments, 2005 marks
another chapter for the company. Building upon 15 years of sus-
tained revenue and profit growth, in October 2005, NCI| accom-
plished an important strategic goal when it began trading publicly
on the NASDAQ National Market under the ticker symbol NCIT.
As a mature company with a highly respected board of directors, a
seasoned management team, and an exceptional infrastructure in
place, NCl is well positioned to prosper as a public company. We
look forward to building new relationships and delivering on our
commitment to create value for our stockholders.

Delivering performance With solid performance across the board,
2005 was an excellent year for NCI. We achieved a 12% growth
rate with revenues of $191.3 million. This growth continues to
advance our position as a leader in high-end IT services and
solutions. We are known for applying advanced technologies to
design—and then implement—solutions that solve our customers’
most complex and challenging problems. We have always put our
customers first and have committed ourselves to their success and
strive for “win-win" outcomes.

Perhaps most noteworthy regarding our financial performance this
past year is the impressive improvement in our profitability. For the
full year 2005, our operating income increased 45% to $11.2 million
or an operating margin of 5.9%. However, if we exclude stock
compensation expenses, our 2005 operating margin improved to
6.7%, compared to 5.2% for the same period in 2004. In the past
several years, NCl made significant and strategic investments in
management and infrastructure to position the company to compete
as a prime contractor for large multi-year, Government-wide con-
tracts in the full and open marketplace. Consequently, we are now
in a position to reap the benefits of those investments, and we are
confident that we can more than double NCl's current size within
the next three to five years without the need for additional material
investments. Moreover, we believe that the operating leverage
provided by our current platform is one of the most compelling value
propositions we offer our stockholders.

We have significantly strengthened our balance sheet as a result of
our IPO, utilizing the proceeds from it to eliminate debt. More recently,
we announced that we have a new credit facility that provides NCI
with a borrowing capacity up to $60 million. With our current zero
bank debt balance and our expanded borrowing capacity, NCI has the
financial flexibility to continue building a leadership position in high-end
IT services and solutions for Government customers.

Competitive advantages NC| is successful because we strive to
anticipate trends within our marketplace and then position ourselves
to benefit from these opportunities. One of the major trends within
our industry involves the Government’s procurement practice of
issuing large, multi-year contracts awarded to a limited number of
prime contractors to manage the associated work, as well as the
multitude of subcontracts for the Government. We are referring to
Government-Wide Acquisition Contracts, or GWACs. We believe
that these contract vehicles are the preferred method of awarding




work by many of our clients because they enable Federal
Government agencies to rapidly obtain services through
a streamlined process.

ft is widely accepted that one of the greatest catalysts for
growth in our industry is the ability to win such prime
positions on one of more of these GWAC contract vehicles.
As NCI closed out 2005, we had prime positions on six
GWAC vehicles. With an aggregate program ceiling value
of $21.3 billion, excluding the GSA Schedule 70, we are
exceptionally pleased to have such a broad set of contract
offerings in our portfolio to reach our customers. But perhaps
more importantly, they indicate our customers’ confidence

in NCI and their satisfaction with our services and solutions.

The fact that more than 80% of our employees are on site
with our customers is a tremendous strategic advantage and
the underpinning to our progressive engagement strategy.
We refer to our marketing approach as “progressive engage-
ment.” That is, after we are engaged with a customer, we
first provide outstanding performance to enhance our
reputation and to ensure that we win the subsequent
contract recompetition. Then, we attempt to leverage our
entire capabilities to expand the scope of our existing work as
we build and reinforce the customer relationship. A contract
for enterprise management services, for example, is a
perfect starting point to offer our extensive expertise in
network security protection, generally referred to as informa-
tion assurance. Many opportunities that we pursue require an
in-depth understanding of the customers’ goals and missions,
which we gain as we sit side by side with ourcustomers.
Often, itis this mission-specific knowledge that is the primary
evaluation criteria for retaining or winning work.

After a period of substantial recompete activity, NCl is
now in an advantageous position with fewer recompetes
in 20086. In fact, 1t appears unlikely that any:of those on
our list of top-10 contracts will be up for recompetition in
2006. We are at the beginning of many of our contracts,
which provides a solid foundation for future growth. We
can, therefore, apply most of our efforts toward pursuing
new clients and contracts and aggressively target task
orders under our six prime GWAC vehicles.

Finally, we continue to have one of the highest concentra-
" tions of employees with clearances in the Federal sector.
About 71% of our approximately 1,400 employees have
security clearances, and about half of those individuals
have high-level clearances. Having significant personnel
with security clearances is a key discriminator in our
marketplace, where the barriers to entry refmain high
due to the classified nature of the work. We also have
approximately 50 locations that provide us a:local presence
at some key Government installations. This geographical
diversification provides a stable business base and ben-
efits the company from a recruiting and retebtion perspec-
tive. We have a comparatively lower concentration in the
Washington, DC, metropolitan area, which has a shortage
of qualified labor.

In summary, we are pleased with our position going into
2006 and are optimistic that we have several parallel
paths that will result in a successful year. Our goal is to
position NCI as a premier prime contractor. We believe
our GWAC vehicles, along with our other important
competitive advantages, will allow us to grow at increas-
ingly higher rates.

Delivering sustainable long-term strategic value NCl is a
company managed by people who understand our
customers’ ever-changing priorities as they face unprec-
edented political, technological, and security challenges.
They are engaged in and committed to the success of our
customers’ missions. We extend our sincere thanks to
these dedicated and talented employees who are the
driving force behind the success we enjoy today.

As we continue to build NCI, our fundamental goal is two-
fold. Internally, we continue to focus our efforts on further
driving organic growth while improving margins and profit-
ability. Externally, we are exploring opportunities for value
creation, and we are evaluating strategic acquisitions where
we can gain additional access to other high-growth areas
within the Federal sector. With our strong balance sheet
and increased borrowing capabilities, we have the financial
resources to capitalize on these future opportunities. We
intend to exercise a disciplined strategy for pursuing only
those prospects that offer the right strategic fit.

We enter 2006 with tremendous momentum. The markets
we serve are robust and growing. Many segments, in fact,
are growing at double-digit rates. The passage of the 2006
Federal IT budget at high funding levels continues to
validate the overall demand and strength of our markets.
As a mid-sized, publicly traded company, we fully plan to
grow the company and compete to increase our market
share. Moreover, such exceptionally large markets provide
ample opportunity to support our longer-term, annual top-
line growth targets of 10% to 15%.

Our resolve for 2006 and beyond will be to continue
delivering results to create sustainable long-term value to all
our constituencies. We will do this as we always have: with
our unwavering commitment to our customers, employees,
partners, and now, our stockholders.

=y A ot

Michael W. Solley
President

Sincerely,

Charles K. Narang
Chairman and CEO




Network Engineering

RAPIDLY EVALUATE AND IMPROVE NETWORK
PERFORMANCE AND SECURITY

We offer a full lifecycle of network engineering
services to our clients, from the initial require-
ments analysis and network design, through
implementation and testing of the solution,
including the design of disaster recovery
contingency plans. Our network engineering
capabilities include the design, architecture,
configuration, implementation, and operation of
Local Area Networks (LANs), Metropolitan Area
Networks (MANs), and Wide Area Networks
(WANSs). Our extensive experience providing
network engineering services for Federal
Government clients allows us to rapidly identify
potential bottlenecks, security threats, and
vulnerabilities, as well as to address these
potential issues with cost-effective solutions.
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Information Assurance

PROTECT AGAINST UNAUTHORIZED USERS
AND INTERNAL/EXTERNAL THREATS

We offer information assurance solutions to secure
enterprise systems and networks, with particular
expertise protecting IT infrastructures for our clients
that operate in classified environments. We design,
configure, and deploy security architectures based

on assessments of our clients’ current and future

IT needs, mission objectives, and regulatory require-
ments, in addition to specific threats from unauthorized
users. in connection with implementing these architec-
tures, we help define and implement information
assurance policies, procedures, and guidelines to
ensure effective future IT planning. Our highly skilled
and accredited employees provide research and
implementation of security policies, technical support,
and comprehensive security assessment plan
development. We also identify potential threats and
vulnerabilities, and design and implement corrective
action plans that employ advanced technologies, such
as encryption, digital signatures, and firewalls, using
both commercial-off-the-shelf (COTS) and custom
security and software solutions.




Enterprise Systems
Management

DESIGN AND MONITOR CLIENTS' SYSTEMS TO KEEP
THEM AT PEAK PERFORMANCFE

We design, instal!, and manage complex, mission-
critical enterprise systems for our clients, increasing
the reliability, security, and efficiency of their IT
operations while meeting stringent mission require-
ments. As part of our overall network operation and
management services, we continually analyze and
monitor enterprise system components and create
systems that can adapt to rapidly changing needs.
We employ a knowledge-centric service delivery
assurance methodology designed to keep client
mission-critical systems at peak perfermance. This
methodology utilizes network and traffic simulations
to identify potential changes in performance or
possible security issues within a particular network,
allowing our engineers to protect clients’ systems
and data. Our network engineers are certified in the
leading commercial enterprise tools and combine that
knowledge with our techniques, experience, and
processes to deliver solutions to our clients.

Applications Support
Infrastructure Operation
and Management

Intrusion Detection and Response-

Network Performance Evaluation ~

Network Upgrade Assessment
Telecommunications Support
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Systems Development
and Integration

IMPROVE OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY, INCREASE
RETURN ON INVESTMENT, AND LOWER TOTAL
COST OF OWNERSHIP

We provide a full range of systems development
and integration services to our clients. Initially, we
leverage our business process engineering skills
to analyze the activities, roles, and objectives of a
proposed IT system or solution. Based on this
analysis, we integrate advanced technologies
with our clients’ legacy systems to improve
operational efficiency and increase our clients’
returns on |T investments.




We provide comprehensive IT support services, including network engineering, information assurance,
systems development and integration, and enterprise systems management services. We support the only
Federal enterprise network to win the prestigious Frank B. Rowlett Organizational Excellence Award three

Administration
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Army Program Executive U
Instrumentation (PEO STRI)

We assist PEO STR! CIO customers by providing project management, network engineering, information
assurance, asset acquisition and management, system maintenance, software and customer support,
i t mfrastructure.

We provide systems engineering and analysis, test planning, execution, and reporting of test results
associated with various weapon systems’ hardware and software, and IT services. We also build test
eqguipment, develop scientific software, and provide weapons systems expertise.
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PART 1

|
Forward-Looking Statements ‘\\

This Annual Report on Form 10-I§, including the section entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Qperations,” contains forward-looking statements regarding our business,
financial condition, results of operatio?s and prospects. We have attempted to identify forward-looking
statements by using such words as “anpcipate,” “believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,”
“should,” “will,” “would” or other similar expressions. These forward-looking statements, which are subject to
risks and uncertainties, and assumptioxqs about us, may include, among other things, projections of our future
financial performance, our anticipated growth strategies, anticipated trends in our industry, our potential growth
opportunities, the effects of future regu‘?lations and the effects of competition. These statements are only
predictions based on our current expectations and projections about future events. Because these forward-looking
statements involve risks and uncertainties, you should be aware that there are important factors that could cause
our actual results, level of activity or pérformance to differ materially from the results, level of activity or
performance expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Some of these important factors are
outlined under Item 1A. Risk Factors and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Although we believe
that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee our future
results, level of activity or performance! We undertake no obligation to update publicly or revise any forward-

looking statements. You should not place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements.

In this document, unless the context indicates otherwise, the terms “Company,” “NCL” “we,” “us” and
“our” refer to NCIL, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and, where appropriate, its subsidiaries.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
COMPANY OVERVIEW

We are a provider of information thhnology services and solutions to federal government agencies. We
focus on designing, implementing, maintaining and upgrading secure information technology (IT) systems and
networks by leveraging our skills across ifour core service offerings: network engineering; information assurance;
systems development and integration; and enterprise systems management. Since our founding in 1989, we have
derived substantially all of our revenue fi rom contracts performed for federal government agencies, with the
majority of our revenue currently generated from the delivery of mission-critical IT services to defense and
intelligence agencies. We believe our diversified and stable client base, strong client relationships, broad array of

contracts and significant management ang operational capabilities position us to continue our growth.

We have strong, long-term relationships with our clients, as evidenced by our record of retaining business.
We have provided IT services and solutions to clients within the U.S. Army, U.S. Air Force, Department of
Energy (DOE), National Aeronautics and| Space Administration (NASA) and the intelligence community for
more than ten years. In addition, over the past three years, we won more than 90% of the competitively awarded
prime engagements on which we were th§ incumbent and eligible for award. We believe our strong relationships
result from our in-depth understanding ofjclient missions, the strength of our technical solutions and the
co-location of a majority of our employees with our clients.

We have made significant investments in our management, employees and infrastructure in support of our
growth and profitability strategies. Our senior managers average more than 25 years of experience with federal
government agencies, the U.S. military and federal government contractors. In addition, our President and our
Chief Operating Officer each has more tha“n 18 years of public company experience in the federal IT services
sector. Members of our management teamlhave extensive experience growing businesses organically, as well as
through acquisitions. We deliver our services through a highly skilled work force of approximately 1,400
employees, of whom 71% possess at least pne security clearance. In addition, we recently expanded our Sensitive
Compartmented Information Facilities (SCIFs), which are government certified facilities that enable us to pursue
additional classified work.




In 2005 our revenue was $191.3 million, a 11.7% increase over our 2004 revenue of $171.3 million. Since
2001, our revenue, including the effect of an acquisition and an initial public offering, has grown from $119.1
million in 2001 to $191.3 million in 2003, representing a compound annual growth rate of 12.6%. Over the same
period, our operating income has increased 41.0%, from $8.0 million in 2001 to $11.3 million in 2005. As of
December 31, 2003, our total estimated contract backlog was $579 million, of which approximately $70 million
was funded. See Item 1. Business—Relevant Industry Terms for a definition of backlog. We are focused on
continuing to grow organically while improving margins, and intend to expand our capabilities through strategic
acquisitions.

RELEVANT INDUSTRY TERMS

We generally perform our services for federal government agencies pursuant to both contracts and task
orders. A contract may include specific work requirements for a particular job that is to be performed, or may
instead provide a framework that defines the scope and terms under which work may be performed in the future,
in which case any fask orders that may be issued from time to time under the contract set forth the specific work
assignments that are to be performed under the contract. In this prospectus, references to any contract include the
task orders, if any, issued under that contract. Accordingly, information in this prospectus regarding our revenue
under government contracts includes revenue we receive under both contracts and task orders. We perform
services as a prime contractor under those contracts and task orders that are awarded to us directly by the federal
government. We also perform services for the federal government as a subcontractor to other companies that are
awarded prime contracts. References in this prospectus regarding our engagements mean specific work that we
have contracted to perform as a prime contractor or subcontractor pursuant to both contracts and task orders for a
particular client.

Some of our contracts are multiple award contracts. Multiple award contracts are vehicles pursuant to
which the federal government may purchase goods or services from several different pre-qualified contractors.
Such contracts include government-wide acquisition contracts (GWACs), blanket purchase agreements (BPAs),
GSA Schedule 70 and other Indefinite Delivery/Indefinite Quantity (ID/IQ) contracts. GWACs are task-order or
delivery-order contracts for goods and services established by one agency for government-wide use. BPAs are a
simplified method of filling repetitive needs or services by establishing “charge accounts” with qualified
suppliers and eliminating the need for issuing individual purchase, invoice and payment documents. GSA
Schedule 70 is a contracting vehicle sponsored by the General Services Administration that is available to all
federal government agencies for procuring information technology services and products pursuant to contracts
(GSA Schedule 70 Contracts) and task orders (GSA Schedule 70 Task Orders) awarded thereunder. Over 5,000
contractors are currently on the GSA Schedule 70, and the federal government purchased more than $16.5 billion
in services and products under the schedule during the government fiscal year ended September 30, 2005.
Finally, ID/IQs are contracts for goods or services which do not specify a firm quantity and that provide for
issuance of orders for the performance of tasks during the contract period. Multiple award contracts typically
have a ceiling, which is the maximum amount the government is authorized to spend under the contract over the
life of the contract. While the government is permitted to spend up to the ceiling amount, there is no guarantee
that it will do so or that any particular pre-qualified contractor will receive awards under the vehicle.

Federal government contracts for our services include three types of pricing: time-and-materials; cost-plus;
and fixed-price. Time-and-materials contracts are contracts under which we are reimbursed for labor at fixed
hourly rates and generally reimbursed separately for allowable materials, other direct costs and out-of-pocket
expenses. Cost-plus contracts are contracts under which we are reimbursed for costs that are determined to be
allowable and allocable to the contract and receive a fee, which represents our profit. Cost-plus fixed fee
contracts specify the contract fee in dollars. Cost-plus incentive fee and cost-plus award fee contracts provide for
increases or decreases in the contract fee, within specified limits, based upon actual results as compared to
contractual targets for factors such as cost, quality, scheduie and performance. Fixed-price contracts are
contracts under which we perform specific tasks for a predetermined price. We have three basic categories of
fixed-price contracts: fixed unit price; fixed-price level-of-effort; and fixed-price completion contracts. Fixed
unit price is where we receive a fixed price per unit of work delivered, and the unit price is not subject to
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adjustment. Fixed-price level-of-effort requires the contractor to provide a specified level of effort over a stated
period of time, on work that can only be stated in general terms, and the government is to pay a stated fixed
amount. Fixed-price completion pro\ vides a set price for specific performance that is not subject to any
adjustment on the basis on the contra\ctor s actual cost experience in performing the contract. The majority of our

work under fixed-price contracts is f1xed-pnce level-of-effort work.

We define backlog as our estime‘ite of the remaining future revenue from existing signed contracts over the
remaining base contract performanceuperiod and from the option periods of those contracts, assuming the
exercise of all related options. Our backlog does not include any estimate of future potential delivery orders that
might be awarded under our GWAC or other multiple award contract vehicles. We define funded backlog as the
portion of backlog for which funding g:urrently is appropriated and obligated to us under a contract or other
authorization for payment signed by an authorized purchasing agency, less the amount of revenue we have
previously recognized. Our funded backlog does not represent the full potential value of our contracts, as
Congress often appropriates funds for a particular program or agency on a quarterly or yearly basis, even though
the contract may provide for the prov1§10n of services over a number of years. We define unfunded backlog as
the total backlog less the funded backlég Unfunded backlog includes values for contract options that have been
priced but not yet funded.

MARKET OPPORTUNITY

The federal government is among the largest consumers of information technology services and solutions in
the world. According to INPUT, an independent federal government market research firm, the overall market for
contracted IT systems and services by the federal government is expected to grow from $59.2 billion in federal
fiscal year 2005 to $78.8 billion in federal fiscal year 2010. In addition, recent defense budgets are significantly
higher than in prior years, particularly ilul areas related to IT, intelligence, surveillance, reconnaissance and
homeland security due to increased counter-terrorism activities and the U.S. deployments overseas. According to
INPUT, the Department of Defense’s (DoD) spending on information technology services and solutions is
expected to increase from $27.2 billion 1 1“11 federal fiscal year 2005 to $35.0 billion in federal fiscal year 2010.
Although spending on intelligence related activities by the federal government remains highly classified, INPUT
estimates total addressable IT spending for U.S. intelligence agencies in federal fiscal year 2005 at $7.8 billion,
growing to $10.9 billion in federal fiscaﬂ‘year 2010. We believe there will be significant market opportunities for
providers of IT services and solutions to federal government agencies, particularly those in the defense and

intelligence community, over the next several years because of the trends outlined below.

Focus on Federal Government Transformation

The federal government, and the DoD in particular, is in the midst of & significant transformation that is
driven by the federal government’s need to address the changing nature of global threats. A significant aspect of
this transformation is the use of information technology to increase the federal government’s effectiveness and
efficiency. The result is increased federal “government spending on information technology to upgrade networks
and transform the federal government froT separate, isolated organizations into larger, enterprise level, network-
centric organizations capable of sharing information broadly and quickly. While the transformation initiative is
driven by the need to prepare for new werld threats, adopting these IT transformation initiatives will also
improve efficiency and reduce infrastructure costs across all federal government agencies. We believe IT

spending in connection with the federal gokvernment s transformation initiative will continue to be driven by:

Increased Demand for Interoperable and Robust Networks. The federal government is focused on enhancing
interoperability across its disparate networkﬁ and systems in order to effectively use information to assess and
respond to terrorist threats and to transform the military’s approach to fulfilling its mission. Such a transformation is
necessary to ensure information superiority and foster the development and deployment of the next generation of
information technology systems for ne‘cworkwl centric warfare, including C41 systems (command, control,
communications, computing and intelligence systems). In addition, we believe the convergence of voice, video and
data onto the desktop will increase the requirements for more robust networks. We expect these increased
requirements to result in greater market oppo\r‘cunities and demand for our core business services.
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Increased Demand for Secure Networks and Systems. In response to increased concemns over cyber-attacks
and threats to the national information infrastructure, the federal government adopted the Federal Information
Security Management Act (FISMA) in 2002. FISMA requires each federal government agency to develop,
document and implement an agency-wide information security program and ensure that its systems are certified
and accredited according to predetermined federal government standards and processes. According to the Office
of Management and Budget, many agencies are still working to achieve compliance with FISMA and will likely
require the assistance of professional services providers to achieve their information security requirements.
INPUT estimates that federal spending for information security initiatives will increase from approximately $5.1
billion in federal fiscal year 2005 to approximately $7.3 billion in federal fiscal year 2010.

Increased Reliance on Professional Services Providers

The federal government has increasingly relied on professional services providers, particularly for
information technology services, in connection with its transformation initiatives. INPUT projects total federal
spending on contracted information technology services to grow from $12.7 billion in federal fiscal year 2005 to
$16.5 billion in federal fiscal year 2010. We believe two of the primary reasons for the federal government’s
increased reliance on professional services providers are:

Demand for More Innovative Solutions and Technology Services. Federal government agencies are seeking
more innovative solutions and technology services in response to the increasing pressure to operate more
effectively and efficiently. Because of their skills and experience, federal government agencies are using
professional services providers to support transformational mandates, introduce commercial best practices and
leverage commercial technological advances. In addition, professional services providers are able to leverage
their recent experiences across their client base to develop more cost-effective and efficient technology solutions
that comply with the latest applicable standards.

Declining Federal Government IT Workforce. According to INPUT estimates, approximately 45% of
federal government IT workers will be eligible to retire by federal fiscal year 2008. Given the difficulty the
federal government has experienced in recruiting and retaining skilled technology personnel, we believe the
declining federal government IT workforce will necessitate the continued and increasing use of professional
services providers for the federal government’s IT needs.

Evolving Procurement Practices

Federal government procurement practices and policies are expected to continue to evolve as federal
agencies increasingly rely on professional services providers for information technology solutions and services.
We expect the following trends to continue to shape the federal government’s procurement practices and
policies:

Focus on Strength of Technical Solution and Best Value. Federal government agencies are shifting emphasis
to the procurement of contracts with the strongest technical solution and overall best value for the federal
government. To achieve this goal, federal agencies have adopted procurement criteria that give more
consideration to companies’ technical capabilities and past performance on similar projects. These criteria also
place more emphasis on a solution’s overall contribution to a federal government agency’s mission than on the
proposed cost. We believe these factors benefit companies with deeper techmcal capabilities, relevant project
experience and existing relationships with clients.

Increased Use of GWACs and Multiple Award Contracts. As part of its shift in procurement practices aimed
at increasing flexibility and responsiveness, the federal government is expanding its use of GWACs and other
multiple award contracts. Professional services providers compete to be pre-selected under these umbrella
contracts, which outline the basic terms and conditions for the procurement of services. Once pre-selected, the
companies compete only among themselves to provide services under the vehicle. These contracts provide the
federal government contracting agencies with additional flexibility and responsiveness as projects can be
awarded quickly to these preferred providers.
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COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS

We believe we are well posmom\,d to meet the rapidly evolving needs of federal government agencies for IT
services and solutions because we possess the following key business strengths:

In-Depth Understanding of Client Missions

Since our founding, we have prox‘z(ided mission-critical services and solutions to our clients, enabling us to
develop an in-depth understanding of their missions and technical needs. In addition, approximately three
quarters of our employees are located %t client sites, giving us valuable strategic insights into clients’ ongoing
and future program requirements. Our in- -depth understanding of our client missions, in conjunction with the
strategic location of our employees, en‘%bles us to offer technical solutions tailored to our clients’ specific
requirements and consistent with their Fvolv1ng mission objectives.

|
Proven Ability to Win Business

In 2005, we were awarded task orders and single award contracts with a total value in excess of $200
million. Over the past three years, we w’on more than 90% of the competitively awarded prime engagements on
which we were the incumbent and ehglble for award. Our success in winning business is based, in part, on our
ability to anticipate clients’ emerging re\qulremems which enables us to develop stronger technical proposals. As
a result, we are often awarded contracts jbased on the overall value of our solution rather than its cost.

|

Diverse Base of Key Prime Contract Vé?zicles

As a result of our business development focus on securing key contracts, we are a prime contractor on
numerous multi-year GWACs that prov1‘?e us the opportunity to bid on hundreds of millions of dollars of
business against a discrete number of other pre-qualified companies each year. These contracts include: the U.S.
Army ITES contract with a ceiling of $500 million over seven years; the U.S. Air Force NETCENTS contract
with a ceiling of $9 billion over five year\hs, the Department of Veterans Affairs Global IT Support Services
(GITSS) contract with a ceiling of $3 billion over eight years; the Department of Commerce COMMITS NexGen
contract with a ceiling of $8 billion over ten years; and the GSA Schedule 70. While the federal government is
not obligated to make any awards under these vehicles, we believe that holding prime positions on these contract

vehicles provides us an advantage as we seek to expand the level of services we provide to our clients.

Highly Skilled Employees with Security Clearances

\
As of December 31, 2005, we had aplproximately 1,400 employees, 71% of whom had formal degrees and

the majority of whom hold technical certifications. In addition, approximately 71% of our employees as of
December 31, 2005 held at least one federgl government security clearance, and approximately 36% possessed
clearance levels of Top Secret or higher. Tpese higher clearance levels generally require sponsorship by a client,
extensive background investigations and lifestyle polygraph testing, a process that can take more than one year to

complete. |

l

Experienced Management Team

Our senior management team has the skills, experience and knowledge to implement our business and
operating strategies. Members of our senior“ management team have significant federal government sector
experience, as well as considerable experience as senior operating executives of publicly traded federal
government contractors. For example, our Eresident and our Chief Operating Officer each has more than 18 years
of public company experience in the federall IT services sector. The senior management team’s range of
experience includes growing smaller companies, primarily through internal growth, and large companies through
internal growth and acquisitions. Our senior\\management team has significant experience successfully
identifying, acquiring and integrating acquis\itions, having completed more than 30 transactions during their
careers.




STRATEGY

Our objective is to grow our business as a provider of information technology services and solutions to
federal government agencies while improving our profitability. To achieve our objective, we intend to:

Accelerate Internal Growth

We intend to accelerate our internal growth rate by capitalizing on our current contract base, expanding
services provided to our existing clients, expanding our client base and offering new, complementary services.

Capitalize on Current Contract Base. Our contract base includes five prime GWAC vehicles with a total
combined budgeted ceiling value in excess of $21 billion. We intend to aggressively pursue task orders under
these vehicles to maximize our revenue and strengthen our client relationships, though there is no assurance that
the federal government will make awards up to the ceiling amounts or that we will be awarded any task orders
under these vehicles. We have developed several internal tools that facilitate our ability to track, prioritize and
win task orders under these vehicles. Combining these tools with our technical expertise, our strong past
performance record and our knowledge of our clients’ needs, should position us to win additional task orders
under our prime GWAC vehicles.

Expand Services Provided to Existing Clients. We intend to expand the services we provide to our current
clients by leveraging our strong relationships, technical capabilities and past performance record. We believe our
understanding of client missions, processes and needs, in conjunction with our full lifecycle IT offerings,
positions us to capture new work from existing clients as the federal government continues to increase the
volume of IT services contracted to professional services providers. Moreover, we believe our strong past
performance record positions us to expand the level of services we provide to our clients as the federal
government places greater emphasis on past performance as a criterion for awarding contracts.

Expand Client Base. We also plan to expand our client base into areas with significant growth opportunities
by leveraging our industry reputation, long-term client relationships and diverse contract base. We anticipate that
this expansion will enable us both to pursue additional higher value work and to further diversify our revenue
base across the federal government. Our long-term relationships with federal government agencies, together with
our GWAC vehicles, give us opportunities to win contracts with new clients within these agencies. For example,
under the $300 million U.S. Army ITES vehicle, since March 2004 we have been awarded 20 task orders with a
combined value in excess of $285 million. Of these task orders, ten were awarded by new clients.

Offer New Complementary Services. We intend to leverage our strong reputation for providing IT services
to offer new complementary services to our existing clients. We expect to focus on high value-added services
that are closely aligned with our current offerings. When appropriate, we anticipate selectively identifying and
hiring key personnel who possess unique client, mission or technical experience to enhance our knowledge of
and expertise in the new service offering. New services in which we are currently focused on building a greater
presence include systems engineering, acquisition management and program management.

Improve Operating Margins
We believe that we have significant opportunities to increase our operating margins and improve

profitability by capitalizing on our corporate infrastructure investments and internally developed tools, and
concentrating on high value-added prime contracts.

Capitalize on Corporate Infrastructure Investments. During the past several years we have made significant
investments in our senior management and corporate infrastructare in anticipation of future revenue growth.
These investments included hiring four executives with more than 90 years of combined experience with federal
IT services companies, strengthening our internal controls and accounting staff in anticipation of Sarbanes-Oxley
compliance and public company reporting requirements, expanding our SCIFs and moving our headquarters to a
larger facility. We believe our management experience and corporate infrastructure are more typical of a
company with a much larger revenue base than ours. We therefore anticipate that as our revenue grows, we will
be able to leverage this infrastructure base and increase our operating margins.
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Capitalize on Internally Developed Tools. We have invested significant resources in a variety of web-based
tools that enable us to efficiently and l‘e,ffectively manage our business development and project management
functions. We created our business development tool to allow our managers to track and manage new business
opportunities in real time securely ove“:r the internet. Our proposal staff and project managers leverage our
proposal development tool to create n}yore effective new business proposals in an online, collaborative
environment, regardless of their locations. In addition, our project management tool is highly modular and
adaptable, enabling management to track project progress virtually instantaneously to better manage contract
costs and improve profitability. We believe these highly scaleable tools will enable us to increase operating

efficiency as our revenue base grows. |

Concentrate on High Value-Added Prime Contracis. We expect to improve our operating margins as we
continue to increase the percentage of revenue we derive from our work as a prime contractor and from
engagements where contracts are awarded on a best value, rather than on a low cost, basis. As a prime contractor,
we better control our staffing levels anlqi maximize employee utilization. For the year ended December 31, 2003
as compared to the year ended December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, we increased our percentage of
revenue from prime contracts to appro%\imately 66% from 59% and 55%, respectively. We expect to further
increase this percentage given our recent prime contract awards. The federal government’s move toward
performance-based contract awards to realize greater return on its investment has resulted in a shift to greater
utilization of best value awards. We believe this shift will enable us to expand our operating margins as we are
awarded more contracts of this nature.

Pursue Strategic Acquisitions

We intend to supplement our organic growth by identifying, acquiring and integrating acquisitions that
complement and broaden our existing client base and expand our primary service offerings. Our senior
management team brings significant acquisition experience, having completed more than 30 transactions. Qur
successful acquisition of Scientific & Eﬁgineering Solutions, Inc. (SES) in December 2003 demonstrated our
ability to complete and integrate an acquisition that meets our goals. In addition to strengthening our presence in
the intelligence sector, the acquisition of; SES has positioned us to bid on and win larger, technically more
sophisticated contracts with the intelligence community.

SERVICES AND SOLUTIONS

We provide integrated information technology services and solutions by leveraging our four core service
offerings: network engineering; informatjon assurance; systems development and integration; and enterprise
systems management.

Network Engineering

We offer a full lifecycle of network \:ngineering services to our clients from the initial analysis of the
requirements and design of the network through implementation and testing of the solution, including the design

of disaster recovery contingency plans. Our network engineering capabilities include the design, architecture,

configuration, implementation and operation of Local Area Networks (LAN), Metropolitan Area Networks
(MAN) and Wide Area Networks (WAN)‘?% Our extensive experience providing the following network
engineering services for federal govemmént clients allows us to rapidly identify potential bottlenecks, security

threats and vulnerabilities, and address these potential issues with cost-effective solutions:

*  Architecture Design * Protocol and Topology Selection

* Disaster Response Planning and Recovery * Reliability and Contingency Assessment
¢ Installation, Test and Evaluation \\ *  Requirements Analysis

» Network Configuration * Routing Design

* Network Security Evaluation \ *  Vulnerability Assessment




Information Assurance

We offer information assurance solutions to secure enterprise systems and networks, with particular
expertise protecting IT infrastructures for our clients that operate in classified environments. We design,
configure and deploy security architectures based on assessments of our clients’ current and future information
technology needs, mission objectives and regulatory requirements, in addition to specific threats from
unauthorized users. In connection with the implementation of these architectures, we help define and implement
information assurance policies, procedures and guidelines to ensure effective future IT planning. Our highly
skilled and accredited employees provide research and implementation of security policies, technical support and
the development of comprehensive security assessment plans. We also identify potential threats and
vulnerabilities and design and implement corrective action plans that employ advanced technologies, such as
encryption, digital signatures and firewalls, using both commercial-off-the-shelf (COTS) and custom security and
software solutions. Our information assurance services include:

*  Certification and Accreditation »  Public Key Infrastructure (PKI)
Implementation
¢ Intrusion Detection System (IDS) ¢ Risk and Threat Assessment
Development
* Policy and Procedures Development »  Security Awareness and Training
*  Products Evaluation and Integration »  Security Test and Evaluation

Systems Development and Integration

We provide a full range of systems development and integration services to our clients. Initially, we
leverage our business process engineering skills to analyze the activities, roles and objectives of a proposed IT
system or solution. Based on this analysis, we integrate advanced technologies with our clients’ legacy systems
to improve their operational efficiency and increase our clients’ returns on IT investments. Our systems
development and integration services include:

¢ Database Design ¢ Legacy System Integration
* Enterprise Portal Implementation *  Project Planning and Management
* Integration, Test and Evaluation * Requirements Definition

Enterprise Systems Management

We design, install and manage complex, mission-critical enterprise systems for our clients, increasing the
reliability, security and efficiency of their IT operations while meeting stringent mission requirements. As part of
our overall network operation and management services, we continually analyze and monitor enterprise system
components and create systems that can adapt to rapidly changing needs. We employ a knowledge-centric
service delivery assurance methodology designed to keep client mission-critical systems at peak performance.
This methodology utilizes network and traffic simulations to identify potential changes in performance or
possible security issues within a particular network, allowing our engineers to protect clients’ systems and data.
Our network engineers are certified in the leading commercial enterprise tools and combine that knowledge with
our techniques, experience and processes to deliver solutions to our clients. Qur enterprise systems management
services include:

* Applications Support »  Network Performance Evaluation
* Infrastructure Operation and Management * Network Upgrade Assessment
« Intrusion Detection and Response ¢ Telecommunications Support and Help Desk
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CLIENTS

Our clients include a diverse base of federal government defense, intelligence and civilian agencies. For the
year ended December 31, 2005, Deparli“tment of Defense and intelligence community clients generated
approximately 74% of our revenue and federal civilian agency clients generated approximately 26%. We believe
our risk from adverse budgetary chang”es is reduced by the mission-critical nature of the IT work we perform for
our clients. We also believe our diverse client base within the federal government mitigates the impact of annual

fluctuations in our clients’ budgets.

. . . ‘ » .
The following is a representative list of our clients for the year ended December 31, 2005. Due to the
sensitive nature of our work with the ir‘u)telligence community, we are precluded from providing detailed
information regarding specific intelligence agency clients.

Department of Defense

¢ Air National Guard

* Army National Guard——Head(\quarters
¢ Defense Intelligence Agency |
» Defense Logistics Agency

* U.S. Air Force Warner Robbins, Georgia

» U.S. Air Force U.S. Transportation Command/Air Mobility Command (TRANSCOM/AMC)

* U.S. Army Communications Electronic Lifecycle Management Command (C-E LCMC)

¢ U.S. Army Ft. Lewis, Washinf‘lrton

» U.S. Army Program Executive; Office for Enterprise Information Systems (PEO EIS)

+ U.S. Army Program Executivé“ Office for Simulation, Training and Instrumentation (PEO STRI)
* U.S. Army Tank-Automotive E:Ild Armaments Command (TACOM)

¢ U.S. Army White Sands Missile Range, New Mexico
Various Intelligence Agencies

Federal Civilian
*  Department of Commerce ‘
»  Department of Energy

* Department of State |

* Department of Veterans Affair‘
*  General Accounting Office

* General Services Administration
|

¢ NASA—Goddard Space Flight|Center
* NASA—Headquarters
* NASA—Langley Research Center

I
. . L. .
» National Nuclear Security Administration

!
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CONTRACTS

We have a stable and diversified contract base with approximately 80 active contracts and 180 task orders.
Our contract terms typically extend from one to seven years, including option years (which may be exercised at
the election of the federal government). Our top ten engagements accounted for approximately 46% of revenue
for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Many of our services are provided under GWAC vehicles. Our contract base includes the following prime
GWAC vehicles that have an aggregate program ceiling value of $21.3 billion, excluding GSA Schedule 70.

Number of

Period of pre-qualified

Vehicle Owning agency performance Ceiling value contractors
TEIS U.S. Army 1172005 - 11/2010 $ 0.8 billion 3
NETCENTS U.S. Air Force 09/2004 - 09/2009 $ 9.0 billion 8
ITES U.S. Army 10/2003 - 10/2010 $ 0.5 billion 5
GITSS Department of Veterans Affairs  10/2003 - 10/2013 $ 3.0 billion 10
COMMITS NexGen Department of Commerce 02/2005 - 02/2015 $ 8.0 billion 55
GSA Schedule 70 General Services Administration 06/2002 — 06/2007  Not Specified  >5,000

We believe that these contract vehicles are the preferred method of awarding work by many of our clients
because they enable federal government agencies to rapidly obtain services through a streamlined process. Under
these GWAC vehicles, task orders can only be awarded to a discrete number of pre-qualified companies. For
instance, on the $0.8 billion ceiling TEIS contract, there were awards made to only three contractors in total.
Revenue under our prime GWAC and GSA Schedule 70 Task Orders accounted for approximately 48% of our
total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2005. We anticipate that this percentage will increase in the future
as we have the opportunity to bid on additional tasks under these contract vehicles.

The federal government’s ability to select multiple winners under multiple award contracts, as well as its
right to award subsequent task orders among such multiple winners, means that there is no assurance that these
multiple award contracts will result in the actual orders equal to the ceiling value, or result in any actual orders.
Our failure to compete effectively in this procurement environment could reduce our revenue. While the
government is permitted to spend up to the ceiling amount, there is no guarantee that it will do so, or that any
particular pre-qualified contractor will receive awards under that vehicle.

CONTRACT BACKLOG

We define backlog as our estimate of the remaining future revenue from existing signed contracts over the
remaining base contract performance period and from the option periods of those contracts, assuming the
exercise of all related options. Our backlog does not include any estimate of future potential delivery orders that
might be awarded under our GWAC or other multiple award contract vehicles.

We define funded backlog as the portion of backlog for which funding currently is appropriated and
obligated to us under a contract or other authorization for payment signed by an authorized purchasing agency,
less the amount of revenue we have previously recognized. Our funded backlog does not represent the full
potential value of our contracts, as Congress often appropriates funds for a particular program or agency on a
quarterly or yearly basis, even though the contract may provide for the provision of services over a number of
years.

We define unfunded backlog as the total backlog less the funded backlog. Unfunded backlog includes
values for contract options that have been priced but not yet funded.
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Our estimates of funded, unfunded and total backlog as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

Funded Unfunded Total

As of backlog backlog backlog
(in millions)

December 31,2005 . ... . .. b 69.7 508.9 578.6

December 31,2004 ....... ... . . . ... 61.5 485.3 546.8

There can be no assurance that our backlog will result in actual revenue in any particular period, or at all, or
that any contract included in backlog vJ‘ill be profitable. There is a higher degree of risk in this regard with
respect to unfunded backlog. The actua‘l receipt and timing of any revenue is subject to various contingencies,
many of which are beyond our control.|The actual receipt of revenue on contracts included in backlog may never
occur or may change because a program schedule could change or the program could be canceled, or a contract
could be reduced, modified or terminated early. Our estimates are based on our experience under such contracts
and similar contracts.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

I

Our business development process‘is closely aligned with our overall business strategy to accelerate our
organic growth while improving our operating margins. We are focused on maximizing the work we perform
under our GWAC vehicles, expanding our work with existing clients, expanding our client base and offering
new, complementary services. Working iclosely as a team, our business development and operations personnel
assess market activities with the objecti\\/e of identifying, qualifying and generating capture strategies for contract
opportunities consistent with our overall;\‘ business development focus. Business opportunities are carefully
qualified and prioritized based on potential value and win probability. A senior level executive is assigned
responsibility for evaluating and capturii‘ag each opportunity.

We have centralized and dedicated staff resources for proposal development, pricing, contracts
administration, market research and recrgliting to support these business development activities. We manage our
business development activity with an iﬂkemally developed, automated sales and opportunity tracking tool. The
entire process is defined and quality controlled using our ISO 9001 best practices procedures. All major business
development opportunities undergo frequent, disciplined reviews with our senior management. In addition, our
CEOQ, President and COO conduct monthly reviews of all opportunities in our pipeline to validate our business

A ] o .
development activities and ensure that resources are allocated to maximize the return on these investments.

COMPETITION \

We believe that the major competiti\uze factors in our market are strong client relationships, a record of
successful contract performance, a reputation for quality, an experienced management team, employees with a
wide-range of technical expertise, security clearances and competitive pricing. We often compete against or team
with divisions of large defense and information technology services contractors, including Lockheed Martin
Corporation, Northrop Grumman Corporawtion and Science Applications International Corporation. We also
compete against or team with mid-tier federal contractors with specialized capabilities. Some of our competitors
have significantly longer operating histories and more substantial resources. We expect competition in the federal

government I'T services sector to increase in the future.
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EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2005, we had approximately 1,400 employees, 71% of whom held at least one federal
government security clearance and 36% of whom possessed clearance levels of Top Secret or higher. Our
employees are located at more than 30 sites worldwide. Over 80% of our staff is located on-site with our clients,
allowing us to build long-term relationships. Approximately 71% of our employees have formal degrees, and the
majority of our technical staff is professionally certified in one or more of the following areas:

*  Microsoft Certified Professional (MCP) »  CompTIA A+ Certification
*  Microsoft Certified Systems Engineer (MCSE) *  Sun Certified Systems Administrator

¢ Microsoft Certified Systems Administrator (MCSA)
*  Cisco Certified Network Associate (CCNA)

Certified Information Security System
Professional (CISSP)

e Cisco Certified Network Professional (CCNP) »  Certified INFOSEC Professional
*  Cisco Certified Design Professional (CCDP) ¢ COMSEC Certification
* Cisco Certified Security Professional (CCSP) ¢ Global Information Assurance Certification

We believe we have a professional environment that encourages advanced training to acquire industry-
recognized certifications, rewards strong job performance with advancement opportunities and fosters ethical and
honest conduct. Only four of our employees are represented by a labor union or subject to a collective bargaining
agreement. We believe our salary structures, incentive compensation and benefit packages are competitive within
our industry.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

We were incorporated as NCI, Inc. in Delaware in July 2005. In September 2005, we completed a merger
and share exchange as a result of which NCI Information Systems, Inc., a Virginia corporation, became a wholly-
owned subsidiary. Pursuant to a share exchange agreement, the majority stockholder of NCI Information
Systems, Inc. transferred all of his shares of common stock of NCI Information Systems, Inc. to the Company’s
wholly-owned subsidiary, NCI Acquisition, LL.C, a Virginia limited liability company. The majority stockholder
received one share of Class B common stock in exchange for each share he transferred. NCI Information
Systems, Inc. then merged with the wholly-owned subsidiary, with NCI Information Systems, Inc. surviving the
merger. As a result of this merger, each issued and outstanding share of common stock of NCI Information
Systems, Inc., other than the shares transferred to the wholly-owned subsidiary by the majority stockholder, was
converted into one share of Class A common stock. In connection with this merger, NCI assumed all of the
issued and outstanding options to acquire capital stock of NCI Information Systems, Inc., and these options
became exercisable for shares of our Class A common stock.

WEBSITE ACCESS TO SEC REPORTS

Our internet address is www.nciinc.com. Information contained on our internet website is not part of this
report. We make available free of charge on our internet site our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports
on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such
material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Alternatively, you may access these reports at the SEC’s internet website:
WWW.5€C.20V.
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ITEM 1A.RISK FACTORS.
Risks Related to Our Business

We depend on contracts with the federal government for substantially all of our revenue. If our relationships

with federal government agencies are“ harmed, our revenue and operating profits would decline.

For the year ended December 31,2005, we derived almost 100% of our revenue from federal government
contracts, either as a prime contractor or a subcontractor, including approximately 74% of our revenue from
contracts with the Department of Defense and intelligence agencies. We believe that federal government
contracts will continue to be the source of substantially all of our revenue for the foreseeable future. For this
reason, any issue that compromises ou‘ﬁ” relationship with agencies of the federal government in general, or with
the Department of Defense in particular, would cause our revenue to decline. Among the key factors in
maintaining our relationships with federal government agencies are our performance on individual contracts and
task orders, the strength of our professional reputation and the relationships of our key executives with client
personnel. To the extent that our performance does not meet client expectations, or our reputation or relationships
with one or more key clients are impaired, our revenue and operating results could decline materially.

We face intense competition from many competitors that have greater resources than we do, which could
. 13 . J .7
result in price reductions, reduced profitability or loss of market share.
. oo : . .

We operate in highly competitive markets and generally encounter intense competition to win contracts
from many other firms, including mid-tier federal contractors with specialized capabilities and large defense and
IT services providers. We expect competition in our markets to increase as a result of a number of factors, such
as the entrance of new or larger competitors, including those formed through consolidation. These competitors
may have greater financial, technical, marketing and public relations resources, larger client bases and greater
brand or name recognition than we do. These competitors could, among other things:

[
+  divert sales from us by winning very large-scale government contracts, a risk that is enhanced by the

. | . . .
recent trend in government procurement practices to bundle services into larger contracts;

« force us to charge lower prices; or

» adversely affect our relationships with current clients, including our ability to continue to win
competitively awarded engager]hents in which we are the incumbent.

If we lose business to our competitc‘;rs or are forced to lower our prices, our revenue and our operating
profits could decline. In addition, we ma“y face competition from our subcontractors who, from time-to-time, seek
to obtain prime contractor status on cont%acts for which they currently serve as a subcontractor to us. If one or
more of our current subcontractors are awarded prime contractor status on such contracts in the future, it could

. | . . .
divert sales from us and could force us t@ charge lower prices, which could cause our margins to suffer.

1

Our quarterly operating results may ﬂu\‘é"tuate significantly as a result of factors outside of our control, which
could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

We expect our revenue and operating results to vary from quarter to quarter. As a result, our operating
" results may fall below the expectations o{ securities analysts and investors, which could cause the price of our
common stock to decline. Factors that may affect our operating results include those listed in this “Risk Factors”
section and others such as:

» fluctuations in revenue recognisz on contracts;

» variability in demand for our seryices and solutions;

. N . .
* commencement, completion or t%amnnatlon of contracts during any particular quarter;
+ timing of award or performance incentive fee notices;

* timing of significant bid and proposal costs;

15




» variable purchasing patterns under the GSA Schedule 70 Contracts, government wide acquisition
contracts (GWACs), blanket purchase agreements and other Indefinite Delivery/Indefinite Quantity
(ID/IQ) contracts;

« strategic decisions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions, divestitures, spin-offs and joint
ventures;

» strategic investments, or changes in business strategy;
» changes in the extent to which we use subcontractors;
» seasonal fluctuations in our staff utilization rates; and

» federal government shutdowns or temporary facility closings.

Reductions in revenue in a particular quarter could lead to lower profitability in that quarter because a
relatively large amount of our expenses are fixed in the short-term. We may incur significant operating expenses
during the start-up and early stages of Jarge contracts and may not be able to recognize corresponding revenue in
that same quarter. We may also incur additional expenses when contracts expire, are terminated or are not
renewed.

In addition, payments due to us from federal government agencies may be delayed due to billing cycles or as
a result of failures of government budgets to gain congressional and administration approval in a timely manner.
The federal government’s fiscal year ends September 30. If a federal budget for the next federal fiscal year has
not been approved by that date in each year, our clients may have to suspend engagements that we are working
on until a budget has been approved. Any such suspensions may reduce our revenue in the fourth quarter of that
year or the first quarter of the subsequent year. The federal government’s fiscal year end can also trigger
increased purchase requests from clients for equipment and materials. Any increased purchase requests we
receive as a result of the federal government’s fiscal year end would serve to increase our third or fourth quarter
revenue, but will generally decrease profit margins for that quarter, as these activities generally are not as
profitable as our typical offerings.

We cannot guarantee that our estimated contract backlog will result in actual revenue.

As of December 31, 2005, our estimated contract backlog totaled approximately $579 million, of which
approximately $70 million was funded. There can be no assurance that our backlog will result in actual revenue
in any particular period, or at all, or that any contract included in backiog will be profitable. There is a higher
degree of risk in this regard with respect to unfunded backlog. The actual receipt and timing of any revenue is
subject to various contingencies, many of which are beyond our control. The actual receipt of revenue on
contracts included in backlog may never occur or may change because a program schedule could change or the
program could be canceled, or a contract could be reduced, modified or terminated early. Our estimates are based
on our experience under such contracts and similar contracts. However, there can be no assurances that all, or
any, of such estimated contract value will be recognized as revenue.

If we fail to attract and retain skilled employees or employees with the necessary security clearances, we might
not be able to perform under our contracts or win new business.

The growth of our business and revenue depends in large part upon our ability to attract and retain sufficient
numbers of highly qualified individuals who have advanced information technology skills. If we are unable to
recruit and retain a sufficient number of these employees, our ability to maintain and grow our business could be
limited. In a tight labor market, our direct labor costs could increase or we may be required to engage large
numbers of subcontractor personnel, which could cause our profit margins to suffer. In addition, some of our
contracts contain provisions requiring us to staff an engagement with personnel that the client considers key to
our successful performance under the contract. In the event we are unable to provide these key personnel or
acceptable substitutions, the client may terminate the contract and we may lose revenue.
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In addition, certain federal government contracts require us, and some of our employees, to maintain
security clearances. If our employees|lose or are unable to obtain security clearances, or if we are unable to hire
employees with the appropriate security clearances, the client may terminate the contract or decide not to renew
it upon its expiration. As a result, we may not derive the revenue anticipated from the contract, which, if not
replaced with revenue from other contracts, could seriously harm our operating results.

The loss of any member of our senior management could impair our relationships with federal government
clients and disrupt the management of our business.

I

We believe that the success of our business and our ability to operate profitably depends on the continued
contributions of the members of our senior management. We rely on our senior management to generate business
and execute programs successfully. In\ addition, the relationships and reputation that many members of our senior
management team have established and maintain with federal government personnel contribute to our ability to
maintain strong client relationships and to identify new business opportunities. We do not have any employment
agreements providing for a specific texﬂm of employment with any member of our senior management. The loss of
any member of our senior managemenlt could impair our ability to identify and secure new contracts, to maintain

. . o] .
good client relations and to otherwise manage our business.

\
If we are unable to manage our growth, our business could be adversely affected.

Sustaining our growth has placed significant demands on our management, as well as on our administrative,
operational and financial resources. For us to continue to manage our growth, we must continue to improve our
operational, financial and management|information systems and expand, motivate and manage our workforce. If
we are unable to manage our growth while maintaining our quality of service and profit margins, or if new
systems that we implement to assist in managing our growth do not produce the expected benefits, our business,
prospects, financial condition or operatmg results could be adversely affected.

If our subcontractors fail to perform thelr contractual obligations, our performance and reputation as a prime
contractor and our ability to obtain future business could suffer.

As a prime contractor, we often relAy significantly upon other companies as subcontractors to perform work
we are obligated to perform for our chents We estimate that revenue derived from work performed by our
subcontractors represented approx1mately 15% of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2005. As we
secure more work under our GWAC Vekuncles we expect to require an increasing level of support from
subcontractors that provide complementary and supplementary services to our offerings. Depending on labor
market conditions, we may not be able to identify, hire and retain sufficient numbers of qualified employees to
perform the task orders we expect to win. In such cases, we will need to rely on subcontracts with unrelated
companies. Moreover, even in favorable“ labor market conditions, we anticipate entering into more subcontracts
in the future as we expand our work under our GWACs. We are responsible for the work performed by our
subcontractors, even though in some cases we have limited involvement in that work. If one or more of our
subcontractors fail to satisfactorily perfo”rm the agreed-upon services on a timely basis or violate federal
government contracting policies, laws or regulations, our ability to perform our obligations as a prime contractor
or meet our clients’ expectations may be‘]compromised In extreme cases, performance or other deficiencies on
the part of our subcontractors could result in a client terminating our contract for default. A termination for
default could expose us to liability, mclu”dmg liability for the agency’s costs of reprocurement, could damage our
reputation and could hurt our ability to compete for future contracts.

\
If we experience systems or service failure, our reputation could be harmed and our clients could assert claims
against us for damages or refunds.

We create, implement and maintain lT solutions that are often critical to our clients’ operations. We have
experienced, and may in the future experience, some systems and service failures, schedule or delivery delays
and other problems in connection with our work. If we experience these problems, we may:

. .
* lose revenue due to adverse client reaction;




* be required to provide additional services to a client at no charge;

* receive negative publicity, which could damage our reputation and adversely affect our ability to attract
or retain clients; and

» suffer claims for substantial damages.

In addition to any costs resulting from product or service warranties, contract performance or required
corrective action, these failures may result in increased costs or loss of revenue if clients postpone subsequently
scheduled work or cancel, or fail to renew, contracts.

While many of our contracts limit our lability for consequential damages that may arise from negligence in
rendering services to our clients, we cannot assure you that these contractual provisions will be legally sufficient
to protect us if we are sued.

In addition, our errors and omissions and product liability insurance coverage may not continue to be
available on reasonable terms or in sufficient amounts to cover one or more large claims, or the insurer may
disclaim coverage as to some types of future claims. As we continue to grow and expand our business into new
areas, our insurance coverage may not be adequate. The successful assertion of any large claim against us could
seriously harm our business. Even if not successful, these claims could result in significant legal and other costs,
may be a distraction to our management and may harm our reputation.

Security breaches in sensitive federal government systems could result in the loss of clients and negative
publicity.

Many of the systems we develop, install and maintain involve managing and protecting information
involved in intelligence, national security and other sensitive or classified federal government functions. A
security breach in one of these systems could cause serious harm to our business, damage our reputation and
prevent us from being eligible for further work on sensitive or classified systems for federal government clients.
We could incur losses from such a security breach that could exceed the policy limits under our errors and
omissions and product liability insurance. Damage to our reputation or limitations on our eligibility for additional
work resulting from a security breach in one of the systems we develop, install and maintain could materially
reduce our revenue.

Our employees may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, which could cause us to lose contracts.

We are exposed to the risk that employee fraud or other misconduct could occur. Misconduct by employees
could include intentional failures to comply with federal government procurement regulations, engaging in
unauthorized activities or falsifying time records. Employee misconduct could also involve the improper use of
our clients’ sensitive or classified information, which could result in regulatory sanctions against us and serious
harm to our reputation and could result in a loss of contracts and a reduction in revenues. It is not always possible
to deter employee misconduct, and the precautions we take to prevent and detect this activity may not be
effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses, which could cause us to lose contracts or cause a
reduction in revenues.

We may not be successful in identifying acquisition candidates and if we undertake acquisitions, they could
increase our costs or liabilities and impair our revenue and operating results.

One of our strategies is to pursue growth through acquisitions. We have limited experience with
acquisitions, having completed only one significant acquisition since our inception. We may not be able to
identify suitable acquisition candidates at prices that we consider appropriate. If we do identify an appropriate
acquisition candidate, we may not be able to successfully negotiate the terms of the acquisition or finance the
acquisition on terms that are satisfactory to us. Negotiations of potential acquisitions and the integration of
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acquired business operations could disrupt our business by diverting management attention from day-to-day
operations. Acquisitions of businesses or other material operations may require additional debt or equity
financing, resulting in additional leverage or dilution of ownership.

If we are unable to successfully integrate companies we may acquire in the future, our revenue and
operating results could suffer. The integration of such businesses into our operations may result in unforeseen
operating difficulties (including incof\“npatible accounting and information management systems), may absorb
significant management attention and“\ may require significant financial resources that would otherwise be
available for the ongoing development or expansion of our business. These difficulties of integration may require
us to coordinate geographically dispersed organizations, integrate personnel with disparate business backgrounds
and reconcile different corporate cultﬁres. In certain acquisitions, federal acquisition regulations may require us
to enter into government novation agreements, a potentially time-consuming process. In addition, we may not be
successful in achieving the anticipatet% synergies from these acquisitions, including our strategy of offering our
services to clients of acquired companies to increase our revenue. We may experience increased attrition,
including, but not limited to, key employees of the acquired companies, during and following the integration of
acquired companies that could reduce ‘our future revenue. In addition, we may need to record write-downs from
future impairments of identified intang“ible assets and goodwill, which could reduce our future reported earnings.
Acquisition candidates may have 1iabi%ities or adverse operating issues that we fail to discover through due
diligence prior to the acquisition. In particular, to the extent that prior owners of any acquired businesses or
properties failed to comply with or othfrwise violated applicable laws or regulations, or failed to fulfill their
contractual obligations to the federal government or other clients, we, as the successor owner, may be financially
responsible for these violations and failures and may suffer reputational harm or otherwise be adversely affected.
The discovery of any material liabilitie”s associated with our acquisitions could cause us to incur additional

o i . .
expenses and cause a reduction in our operating profits.

We may be harmed by intellectual proj‘verty infringement claims and our failure to protect our intellectual

property could enable competitors to rr“arket products and services with similar features.

We may become subject to claims‘\\from our employees or third parties who assert that software and other
forms of intellectual property that we use in delivering services and solutions to our clients infringe upon
intellectual property rights of such employees or third parties. Our employees develop much of the software and
other forms of intellectnal property thatwe use to provide our services and solutions to our clients, but we also
license technology from other vendors. If our employees, vendors, or other third parties assert claims that we or
our clients are infringing on their intelleﬁ:tual property rights, we could incur substantial costs to defend those

claims. In addition, if any of these infringement claims are ultimately successful, we could be required to:
|

* cease selling or using products ‘\\or services that incorporate the challenged software or technology;

* obtain a license or additional licenses from our employees, vendors, or other third parties; or
I

» redesign our products and servi“c\‘:es that rely on the challenged software or technology.

In addition, if we are unable to prott\zct our intellectual property, our competitors could market services or
products similar to our services and prod\ﬁcts, which could reduce demand for our offerings. We may be unable
to prevent unauthorized parties from attempting to copy or otherwise obtain and use our technology. Policing
unauthorized use of our technology is difficult, and we may not be able to prevent misappropriation of our
technology, particularly in foreign countr]}ies where the laws may not protect our intellectual property as fully as
those in the United States. Others, including our employees, may circumvent the trade secrets and other
intellectual property that we own. Litigation may be necessary to enforce our intellectual property rights, to
protect our trade secrets and to determine]‘ the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. Any litigation

could result in substantial costs and diver‘s‘ion of resources, with no assurance of success.
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Risks Related to Our Industry

Our revenue and operating profits could be adversely affected by significant changes in the contracting or
fiscal policies of the federal government.

We depend on continued federal government expenditures on intelligence, defense and other programs that
we support. Accordingly, changes in federal government contracting policies could directly affect our financial
performance. In addition, a change in presidential administrations, congressional majorities or in other senior
federal government officials may negatively affect the rate at which the federal government purchases IT
services. The overall U.S. defense budget declined from time-to-time in the late 1980s and the early 1990s.
‘While spending authorizations for intelligence and defense-related programs by the federal government have
increased in recent years, future levels of expenditures and authorizations for those programs may decrease,
remain constant or shift to programs in areas where we do not currently provide services. Among the factors that
could materially adversely affect us are:

» budgetary constraints affecting federal government spending generally, or specific departments or
agencies in particular, and changes in fiscal policies or available funding;

» changes in federal government programs or requirements, inciuding the increased use of small business
providers;

+ curtailment of the federal government’s use of professional services providers;
* the adoption of new laws or regulations;

» federal governmental shutdowns (such as that which occurred during the federal government’s 1996
fiscal year) and other potential delays in the government appropriations process;

* delays in the payment of our invoices by federal government payment offices due to problems with, or
upgrades to, federal government information systems, or for other reasons;

* competition and consolidation in the IT industry; and

* general economic conditions.

These or other factors could cause federal governmental agencies, or prime contractors for which we are
acting as a subcontractor, to reduce their purchases under contracts, to exercise their right to terminate contracts
or not to exercise options to renew contracts, any of which could cause our revenue and operating profits to
decline.

Our federal government contracts may be terminated by the federal government at any time, and if we do not
replace them, our revenue and operating profits may be adversely affected.

We derive most of our revenue from federal government contracts that typically span one or more base
years and one or more option years. The option periods may cover more than half of a contract’s potential
duration. Federal government agencies have the right not to exercise these option periods. In addition, our
contracts also contain provisions permitting a federal government client to terminate the contract on short notice
and for its convenience, as well as for our default. A decision by a federal government agency not to exercise
option periods or to terminate contracts could result in a reduction of our profitability on these contracts and
significant revenue shortfalls.

If the federal government terminates a contract for convenience, we may recover only our incurred or
committed costs, settlement expenses and profit on work completed prior to the termination. We cannot recover
anticipated profit on terminated work. If the federal government terminates a contract for default, we may not
recover even those amounts, and instead may be liable for excess costs incurred by the federal government in
procuring undelivered items and services from another source.
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Federal government contracts contam other provisions that may be unfavorable to us.

Federal government contracts contain provisions and are subject to laws and regulations that give the federal
government rights and remedies not typically found in commercial contracts. These allow the federal government
to terminate a contract for convenience or decline to exercise an option to renew. They also permit the federal
government to do the following:

¢ reduce or modify contractsjor subcontracts;

« cancel multi-year contracts and related orders if funds for contract performance for any subsequent year
become unavailable;

* claim rights in products and systems produced by us; and

\

» suspend or debar us from doing business with the federal government.

If the federal government exercises its rights under any of these provisions, our revenues and operating
profits could decline.

Many of our federal government clzents spend their procurement budgets through multiple award contracts
under which we are required to compete for post-award orders or for which we may not be eligible to compete
and could limit our ability to win new contracts and grow revenue.

Budgetary pressures and reformf in the procurement process have caused many federal government clients
to increasingly purchase goods and services through ID/IQ contracts, the GSA Schedule 70 Contracts and other
multiple award and/or GWAC vehicles. These contract vehicles have resulted in increased competition and
pricing pressure, requiring us to maké sustained post-award efforts to realize revenue under the relevant contract
vehicle. The federal government’s ab}hty to select multiple winners under multiple award schedule contracts,
GWACs, blanket purchase agreement‘\s and other ID/IQ contracts, as well as its right to award subsequent task
orders among such multiple winners, means that there is no assurance that these multiple award contracts will
result in the actual orders equal to the“)“‘ceiling value, or result in any actual orders. We are only eligible to
compete for work (task orders and delivery orders) as a prime contractor pursuant to GWACs already awarded to
us. Our failure to compete effectively \in this procurement environment could reduce our revenue. If the federal
government elects to use a contract Ve\“\hicle that we do not hold we will not be able to compete as a prime
contractor. \

!

|
Each of our contract types involves the risk that we could underestimate our costs and incur losses.

We enter into three types of fedm]al government contracts for our services: time-and-materials, cost-plus and
fixed-price. For the year ended December 31, 2005, we derived approximately 54%, 28% and 18% of our
revenue from time-and-materials, cost:plus and fixed-price contracts, respectively. If we acquire other
businesses, our contract mix may chan\ge.

Each of these types of contracts, t\o differing degrees, involves the risk that we could underestimate our cost
of performance, which may result in a reduced profit or a loss on the contract for us. Under time-and-materials
contracts, we are reimbursed for labor at negotiated hourly billing rates and for certain expenses. We assume
minimal financial risk on time-and-ma enals contracts because we only assume the risk of performing those
contracts at negotiated hourly rates. Under cost-plus contracts, we are reimbursed for allowable costs and paid a
fee, which may be fixed or performance-based. To the extent that the actual costs incurred in performing a cost-
plus contract are within the contract ceﬂmg and allowable under the terms of the contract and applicable
regulations, we are entitled to reimbursement of our costs, plus a profit. However, if our costs exceed the ceiling
or are not allowable under the terms of the contract or applicable regulations, we may not be able to recover
those costs. Under fixed-price contractsﬁ, we perform specific tasks for a fixed price. Compared to
time-and-materials and cost-plus contracts, fixed-price contracts generally offer higher margin opportunities, but
involve greater financial risk because we bear the impact of cost overruns. Because we assume the most risk for
cost overruns and contingent losses on fixed-price contracts, an increase in the percentage of fixed-price

|
contracts in our contract mix would increase our risk of suffering losses.

|

|
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Our profits could be adversely affected if our costs under any of these contracts exceed the assumptions we
used in bidding for the contract.

Our failure to comply with complex procurement laws and regulations could cause us to lose business and
subject us to a variety of penallties.

We must comply with and are affected by laws and regulations relating to the formation, administration and
performance of federal government contracts, which affect how we do business with our clients and may impose
added costs on us. Among the most significant laws and regulations are:

» the Federal Acquisition Regulations, and agency regulations supplemental to the Federal Acquisition
Regulations, which comprehensively regulate the formation, administration and performance of federal
government contracts;

« the Truth in Negotiations Act, which requires certification and disclosure of all cost and pricing data in
connection with contract negotiations;

« the Cost Accounting Standards and Cost Principles, which impose accounting requirements that govern
our right to reimbursement under certain cost-based federal government contracts; and

+ laws, regulations and executive orders restricting the use and dissemination of information classified for
national security purposes and the export of certain products and technical data.

Moreover, we are subject to industrial security regulations of the Department of Defense and other federal
agencies that are designed to safeguard against foreigners’ access to classified information. If we were to come
under foreign ownership, control or influence, our federal government clients could terminate or decide not to
renew our contracts, and our ability to obtain new contracts could be impaired.

We derive significant revenue from contracts awarded through a competitive procurement process, which may
require significant upfront bid and proposal costs that could negatively affect our operating results.

We derive significant revenue from federal government contracts that are awarded through a competitive
procurement process. We expect that most of the federal government business we seek in the foreseeable future
will be awarded through competitive processes. Competitive procurements impose substantial costs and present a
number of risks, including:

 the substantial cost and managerial time and effort that we spend to prepare bids and proposals for
contracts that may not be awarded to us and could reduce our profitability; and

« the expense and delay that we may face if our competitors protest or challenge contract awards made to
us pursuant to competitive procedures, and the risk that any such protest or challenge could result in the
resubmission of offers, or in termination, reduction or modification of the awarded contract, which
could result in increased cost and reduced profitability.

In addition, most federal government contract awards are subject to protest by competitors. If specified legal
requirements are satisfied, these protests require the federal government agency to suspend the contractor’s
performance of the newly awarded contract pending the outcome of the protest. These protests could also result
in a requirement to resubmit bids for the contract or in the termination, reduction or modification of the awarded
contract.

Unfavorable federal government audit results could subject us to a variety of penalties and sanctions, and
could harm our reputation and relationships with our clients and impair our ability to win new contracts.

The federal government, including the Defense Contract Audit Agency (DCAA), audits and reviews our
performance on contracts, pricing practices, cost structure and compliance with applicable laws, regulations and
standards. The DCAA reviews a contractor’s internal control systems and policies, including the contractor’s
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purchasing, property, estimating, compensation and management information systems, and the contractor’s
compliance with such policies. Any c“Dsts found to be improperly allocated to a specific contract will not be
reimbursed, while such costs already reimbursed must be refunded. Adverse findings in a DCAA audit could

materially affect our competitive poswhon and result in a substantial adjustment to our revenue and profit.
!

If a federal government audit uncovers improper or illegal activities, we may be subject to civil and criminal
penalties and administrative sanctlons! including termination of contracts, forfeiture of profits, suspension of
payments, fines and suspension or debarment from doing business with federal government agencies. In addition,
we could suffer serious harm to our reputauon and competitive position if allegations of impropriety were made
against us, whether or not true. If our reputauon or relationship with federal government agencies were impaired,
or if the federal government otherwise ceased doing business with us or significantly decreased the amount of

\
business it does with us, our revenue a‘\md operating profit would decline.

Other Risks Related to Our Stock

A public market for our Class A comrlnon stock has existed only for a limited period of time, and our stock

price is volatile and could decline. \
\
Prior to October 24, 2005, there Wwas no public market for our Class A common stock. An active trading
market for our Class A common stock may not be sustained, which could affect your ability to sell your shares

and could depress the market price of gkfour shares.
1

The stock market in general has b\‘een highly volatile. As a result, the market price of our common stock is
likely to be similarly volatile, and 1nve”stors in our Class A common stock may experience a decrease in the value
of their stock, including decreases unre‘,[lated to our operating performance or prospects. The price of our Class A
common stock could be subject to w1d?‘ fluctuations in response to a number of factors, including those listed in
this “Risk Factors” section and others such as:

*  our operating performance an%l the performance of other similar companies;

¢ changes in our revenue or earr’\ ings estimates;

» changes in recommendations t“‘y securities analysts;

* publication of research reports about us or our industry by securities analysts;
* speculation in the press or inv%stment community;
¢ terrorist acts; and

» general market conditions, inc ‘uding economic factors unrelated to our performance.

\
In the past, securities class action l‘itigation has, at times, been instituted against companies following
periods of volatility in their stock price. This type of litigation against us could result in substantial costs and

divert our management’s attention and resources.

Mr. Narang, our founder, Chairman and CEO, controls the Company, and his interests may not be aligned
with yours.

As of December 31, 2005, Mr. N ar&l’mg, our founder, Chairman and CEQO, through his beneficial ownership
of our Class B common stock and 478 9?6 shares of our Class A common stock, owns or controls 91% of the
combined voting power and 51% of the butstandmg shares of the common stock. Accordingly, Mr. Narang wil
control the vote on all matters submmedx to a vote of our stockholders. As long as Mr. Narang beneficially owns
the majority of the voting power of our (ﬁommon stock, he will have the ability, without the consent of our public
stockholders, to elect all members of our board of directors and to control our management and affairs.

Mr. Narang’s voting control may have the effect of preventing or discouraging transactions involving a change in
control, including proxy contests, tenderjoffers, mergers or other purchases of the capital stock of the Company,

regardless of whether a premium is offered over then-current market prices.
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A substantial number of shares of our common stock will be eligible for sale by Mr. Narang and other
stockholders beginning April 24, 2006, which could cause our common stock price to decline significanily.

As of March 15, 2006, we have 13,327,760 outstanding shares of Class A common stock and Class B
common stock. Of these shares, 5,929,763 shares are freely tradable. Approximately 7,397,997 additional shares
of Class A common stock will be available for sale in the public market on April 24, 2006 following the
expiration of lock-up agreements entered into by Mr. Narang and our executive officers and directors, subject to
applicable volume restriction and manner of sale requirements imposed on affiliates under Rule 144 of the
Securities Act. As restrictions on resale end, the market price of our common stock could drop significantly if the
holders of restricted shares sell them or are perceived by the market as intending to sell them.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

We lease office facilities used in our business. Our executive offices and principal operations are located at
11730 Plaza America Drive, Reston, Virginia, where we occupy space under a lease that expires in 2013. We
also lease space located in Alabama, Arizona, Colorado, Florida, Georgia, Illinois, Maryland, Ohio, Tennessee
and Virginia. We have multiple high-level Sensitive Compartmented Information Facilities (SCIFs). The
majority of our employees are located in facilities provided by the federal government. We do not currently own
any real estate used in the performance of ongoing contracts and maintain flexibility in facility occupancy
through termination and subleasing options concurrent with contract terms in many of our leases. We currently
own one condominium, have a long-term rental agreement on one apartment and from time-to-time may rent
other apartments that are used by our executive officers and proposal teams who are traveling for an extended
period and where we believe it is cost-effective to do so. We believe our facilities meet our current needs and that
additional facilities will be available as we expand in the future.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

From time-to-time, we are involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. At this
time, the probability is remote that the outcome of any litigation pending will have a material adverse effect on
our financial condition and results of operations.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the year ended
December 31, 2005.
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ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER\PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

Since October 24, 2005, our Class A common stock has been quoted on the NASDAQ National Market
under the symbol “NCIT”. Prior to October 24, 2005, our Class A common stock was not publicly traded. The
following table sets forth, for the penc!?ds indicated, the high and low prices of our shares of common stock, as
reported on the NASDAQ National Market.

Year ended December 31, 2005 High Low
Fourth Quarter (since OctobWCr 24,2005) ... $14.61  $10.30

There is no established public ma~rket for our Class B common stock.

As of March 15, 20006, there were five holders of record of our Class A common stock and one holder of
record of our Class B common stock. }‘ he number of holders of record of our Class A common stock is not
representative of the number of beneﬁ‘mal holders because many of the shares are held by depositories, brokers or
nominees. As of March 15, 2006, the closmg price of our Class A common stock was $14.90.

|
Dividend Policy

We currently intend 1o retain all future earnings, if any, for use in the operation, development and expansion
of our business. As a result, we do not Vant1c1pate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future
determination as to the declaration and‘ payment of cash dividends will be at the discretion of our board of
directors and will depend on then- ex1st1ng conditions, business prospects and any other factors our board of
directors deems relevant. Our existing ‘Hcredlt facility prohibits us from paying a dividend if| after it is paid, we
will be in default under our credit agreement. In addition, the terms of any future credit agreement may prevent

]
us from paying any dividends or making any distributions or payments with respect to our capital stock.

All of our assets consist of the sto\ck of our subsidiary. We will need to rely upon dividends and other
payments from our subsidiary to generﬁite the funds necessary to make dividend payments, if any, on our Class A
common stock. However, our subsuhary is legally distinct from us and has no obligation to pay amounts to us.
The ability of our subsidiary to make dividend and other payments to us is subject to, among other things, the

availability of funds, the terms of our s‘ubsidiary’s indebtedness and applicable state laws.

Use of Proceeds

On QOctober 20, 2005, a registration statement (Registration No. 333-127006) relating to our initial public
offering of our Class A common stock was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Under this registration statement, we réglstered 5,150,000 shares of our Class A common stock, and another
772,500 shares subject to the underwnﬁers over-allotment option. All 5,922,500 shares of Class A common stock
registered under the registration staterment, including the 772,500 shares covered by the over-allotment option,
were sold at a price to the public of $10 50 per share. 5,572,500 shares were sold by us, including the 772,500
shares covered by the over-allotment option, and 350,000 shares were sold by the selling stockholders identified
in the registration statement. The offen%g closed on October 26, 2005. The managing underwriters were Legg
Mason Wood Walker, Incorporated, Raymond James & Associates, Inc., Robert W, Baird & Co, and Stephens
Inc. The offering did not terminate until after the sale of all of the shares registered on the registration statement.
The aggregate gross proceeds from the Eghmes of Class A common stock sold by us were $58,511,250. The
aggregate net proceeds to us from the offering were approximately $51,587,670, after deducting an aggregate of
$4,353,038 in underwriting discounts ar‘\ld commissions paid to the underwriters and an estimated $2,570,542

million in other expenses incurred in connection with the offering.

Between the date of the offering th“rough December 31, 2005, we used the net proceeds of the offering to
pay down all of our bank debt. No payments were made from proceeds to our directors, officers, general partners

or their associates, persons owning 10%“ or more of our equity securities, or our affiliates or to any other persons

either directly or indirectly, other than amounts paid as distributions to our S corporation stockholders.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

The tables below set forth the selected consolidated financial data for each of the years in the five-year
period ended December 31, 2005. We derived the selected consolidated financial data from our audited
consolidated financial statements. Prospective investors should read this selected financial data in conjunction
with “Item 7-—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and

our consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this report.
Year ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005
(in thousands except per share data)

Statements of Operations Data:

Revenue ... ... . . . $119,100 $138,165 $136,421 $171,253 $191,319
Operating costs and expenses:
Costofrevenue (1) ... ..ot ir ettt iee i 100,017 115,728 113,521 144,146 162,990
General and administrative expenses (2) ... ............. 9,632 12,166 14,524 16,363 14,411
Depreciation and amortization ........................ 1,296 1,600 1,576 1,741 1,636
Amortization of intangible assets .. .................... 189 20 16 1,252 1,053
Total operating costs and eXpenses ..............c...ue.... 111,13¢ 129,514 129,637 163,502 180,090
OPperating IMCOMIE . . .o\ vttt ettt et en e 7,966 8,651 6,784 7,751 11,229
INtErest INCOME . ..ottt ettt e 270 21 15 26 125
INtErest EXPENSE ... oo vttt e (1,551) (826) (439) (1,373) (1,464)
Income before inCOmME taxes . ... vvv v e i 6,685 7,846 6,360 6,404 9,890
Provision forincometaxes (3) ........ ..., 302 242 262 276 (2,425)
NEtINCOME .ttt ettt e e et ie e e, $ 6383 § 7604 $ 6098 $§ 6,128 $ 12,315
Earnings per share:
BaSIC oot e $ 112 $ 09 $ 090 $ 153
Diluted . ...t e e $ 103 § 08 $ 082 $ 141
Weighted average shares:
BasiC « o e e 6,779 6,779 6,779 8,070
Diluted ....... .. e 7,350 7,347 7,443 8,730
Unaudited pro forma net income:
Income before tAXes . ..o vir it $ 7846 $ 6360 $ 6404 $ 9,889
Pro forma provision for income taxes (3) ................. 3,044 2,448 2,595 3,845
Proformanetincome .............c.ciiiineiiinaannann, $ 4802 $ 3912 $ 3,809 $ 6,044
Pro forma earnings per share:
BaSIC oot $ 071 $ 058 § 056 $ 0.5
Diluted .......cooiiii e $ 067 $ 055 $ 053 $ 071
Pro forma weighted average shares:
BasiC oot e 6,779 6,779 6,779 8,070
Diluted . .... e 7,140 7,143 7,158 8,473
As of December 31, :
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005
(in thousands)
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents ................... ... . ... § 744 $ 316 $ 1340 3 40 §$ 12,323
Networking capital ......... ... .. .o iiiivinnns. 3,189 6,539 2,492 4,653 36,089
Total assets . ..o v e 41,834 36,681 61,992 64,170 90,021
Total debt, including current portion . .................. 16,565 12,129 29,343 24,503 480
Total stockholders’ equity ........................... 10,354 9,877 12,216 16,043 57,171

(1) Cost of revenue includes stock-based compensation expense of approximately $0, $0, $175,000, $116,000 and ($7,000)
for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively.

(2) General and administrative expenses include stock-based compensation expense of approximately $0, $0, $113,000, $1.1
million, and $1.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively.

(3) For all periods prior to October 19, 2005, the Company was treated for tax purposes as an S corporation. The tax
provision shown for those periods reflect the taxes associated with various states that do not recognize the S corporation
tax status. The 2005 Provision for income taxes benefit reflects the transition from an S to a C corporation and the tax
benefit associated with the initial booking of our net deferred tax assets, offset by the provisional taxes associated with
the period the Company was a C corporation. For comparative purposes, we have included a pro forma provision for
income taxes assuming we had been taxed as a C corporation in all periods when our S corporation election was in effect.

N
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCU’SSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIOHN S.

The following discussion and ana~lysis should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the
related notes included elsewhere in thi% Form 10-K. This discussion and analysis contains forward-looking
statements that involve risks, uncertairities and assumptions, such as statements of our plans, objectives,
expectations and intentions. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-
looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute 1o our actual results differing materially from those
anticipated include, but are not limited to, those discussed in Item 1A. Risk Factors and elsewhere in this
Form 10-K.

OVERVIEW

We are a provider of information [echnology services and solutions to federal government agencies. We
focus on designing, implementing, mai“ntaining and upgrading secure IT systems and networks. Our technology
and industry expertise enables us to provide a full spectrum of services and solutions that assist our clients in
achieving their program goals. We deliver a wide range of complex services and solutions by leveraging our

skills across four core service offerings:

* network engineering;

* information assurance;

» systems development and integration; and

* enterprise systems management.

We generate substantially all of our revenue from federal government contracts. We report operating results
and financial data as one operating segment. Funding for our contracts and task orders is generally linked to

trends in federal government spending by defense, intelligence and federal civilian agencies. The following table
shows our revenue from the client groups listed as a percentage of total revenue for the period shown.

Year ended December 31,
2003 2004 2005
Department of Defense and intelligence agencies ..................... 61.5% 69.9% 73.7%
Federal civilian agencies ....... . ... .. ... i i 37.8 29.6 25.8
Commercial and state & local entities ................. ... .. ..., 0.7 0.5 0.5
Totalrevenue ............0 .. .. . 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
|

We believe that our contract base is well diversified. As of December 31, 2005, we had approximately 80
active contracts and 180 task orders. Ouj}r largest engagement is with the U.S. Transportation Command
(USTRANSCOM), which has been a cl%em of ours since 1992. This engagement generated approximately 7.9%
of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2005 and approximately 8.6% of our revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2004. In June 2004, UST}(ANSCOM awarded us two new seven-year task orders, with a total
value of approximately $117 million. The value of the task orders has subsequently been increased to $130
million, assuming all options are exercié‘ed, which the government is not obligated to do. Each of the
USTRANSCOM task orders has a four-month base period and seven option periods. The first six option periods
are one-year each, and the seventh optiqP period is eight months, for a total of seven years. Each option period
has been priced and has a value associated with it. As of October 1, 2005, USTRANSCOM has exercised the first
two options on each of these task ordersj for a total value of $41 million.

As of December 31, 2005, our totall‘L contract backlog was approximately $579 million of which
approximately $70 million was funded. We define backlog as our estimate of the remaining future revenue from
existing signed contracts over the remaining base contract performance period and from the option periods of
those contracts, assuming the exercise o“" all related options. Our backlog does not include any estimate of future
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potential delivery orders that might be awarded under our GWAC or other multiple award contract vehicles. We
define funded backlog as the portion of backlog for which funding currently is appropriated and obligated to us
under a contract or other authorization for payment signed by an authorized purchasing agency, less the amount
of revenue we have previously recognized. Our funded backlog does not represent the full potential value of our
contracts, as Congress often appropriates funds for a particular program or agency on a quarterly or yearly basis,
even though the contract may provide for the provision of services over a number of years. We define unfunded
backlog as the total backlog less the funded backlog. Unfunded backlog includes values for contract options that
have been priced but not yet funded.

We intend to expand our revenue by pursuing opportunities under our GWAC vehicles. As we secure more
work under these vehicles, we expect to hire additional employees and to require an increasing level of support
from subcontractors that provide complementary and supplementary services to our offerings. Depending on
labor market conditions, we may not be able to identify, hire and retain a sufficient number of qualified
employees to perform the task orders we expect to win. In such cases, we will need to rely on subcontracts with
unrelated companies. Moreover, even in favorable labor market conditions, we anticipate entering into more
subcontracts in the future as we expand our work under our GWACs. The additional use of subcontractors may
increase our risk of non-performance under our GWACs because we will not exercise control over such
subcontractors’ day to day operations. A material failure by a subcontractor on a particular engagement could
impact our client relationships, making it more difficult for us to win additional task orders from that client, as
well as other potential clients. Further, as we grow our business, we expect the possibility of technical failures
and lawsuits against us for intellectual property infringement to increase.

We do not expect the effects of these trends to have a material impact on the results of our operations,
working capital requirements or liquidity.

On December 23, 2003, we acquired Scientific & Engineering Solutions, Inc. (SES), a provider of
information assurance, software engineering and knowledge and enterprise management solutions to agencies
within the intelligence community. The acquisition of SES strengthened our presence in the intelligence sector,
enabling us to bid and win larger contracts with new and existing clients. The total consideration paid, including
closing indebtedness and acquisition costs, was $22.3 million, of which a total of $2.9 million was paid during
2004 and 2005 as a result of certain contract transfers. The transaction was accounted for in accordance with
SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, whereby the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed were recognized at their estimated fair market values at the date of acquisition.

Our federal government contracts are subject to audits by the Defense Contract Audit Agency (DCAA). Our
DCAA audits have been completed through 2002. We do not anticipate any material impact to our financial
results with respect to periods in which audits have not been completed.

Revenue

Substantially all of our revenue is derived from services and solutions provided to the federal government,
primarily by our employees and, to a lesser extent, our subcontractors. In some cases, our revenue includes third-
party hardware and software that we purchase and integrate as a part of our overall solutions. The level of
hardware and software purchases we make for clients may vary from period to period depending on specific
contract and client requirements. Since we earn higher profits from labor services that our employees provide
compared with subcontracted efforts and other reimbursable items such as hardware and software purchases for
clients, we seek to optimize our labor services on all of our engagements.
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Contract Types

!

Our services and solutions are provided under three types of contracts: time-and-materials; cost-plus; and
fixed-price. Our contract mix varies from year to year due to numerous factors including our business strategies
and federal government procurement objectlves The following table shows our revenue from each of these types
of contracts as a percentage of our total revenue for the periods shown.

Year ended December 31,
2003 2004 2005

Time-and-materials ........... 0. ... . . 592% S588% 54.2%

COSEPUS -+ veoveeenee TR 285 284 278

Fixed-price . .....ovvveeennn., L 123 128 180
Totalrevenue .......... ..l i 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Time-and-materials contracts. Under time-and-materials contracts, we are reimbursed for labor at fixed
hourly rates and generally reimbursed seLparately for allowable materials, other direct costs and out-of-pocket
expenses. Our actual labor costs may vary from the negotiated hourly rates if, in a constricted labor market, we
need to hire additional employees at hlgher wages or increase the compensation paid to existing employees, or in
a weak labor market, we are able to hire employees at lower than expected rates. To date, we have not
experienced any material variations in thl“e negotiated hourly rates on our time-and-material contracts and our
actual labor costs in connection with those contracts. To the extent that our actual labor costs under a
time-and-materials contract vary 51gn1f1cantly from the negotiated hourly rates, we can generate more or less than

|
the targeted amount of profit. ‘

Cost-plus contracts. Under cost-pluts contracts, we are reimbursed for costs that are determined to be
allowable and allocable to the contract and receive a fee, which represents our profit. Cost-plus fixed fee
contracts specify the contract fee in dollars. Cost- -plus incentive fee and cost-plus award fee contracts provide for
increases or decreases in the contract fee,\ within specified limits, based upon actual results as compared to
contractual targets for factors such as cost quality, schedule and performance.

|

Fixed-price contracts. Under fixed- Iw)nce contracts, we perform specific tasks for a predetermined price. We
have three basic categories of fixed-price| contracts: fixed unit price; fixed-price level-of-effort; and fixed-price
completion contracts. See “Relevant Industry Terms” for a more complete definition of industry terms used
herein. Compared to time-and-materials flnd cost-plus contracts, fixed-price contracts generally offer higher
profit margin opportunities but involve greater financial risk because we bear the impact of potential cost
overruns in return for the full benefit of a%y cost savings. The majority of our work under fixed-price contracts is
fixed-price level-of-effort work, which he%s a lower risk than fixed-price completion contracts, such as software

development. \l

Operating Expenses

Cost of Revenue ”
Cost of revenue primarily includes direct costs incurred to provide our services and solutions to clients. The
most significant portion of these costs is salaries and wages, plus associated fringe benefits including stock-based

. . I . ; .. s
compensation, of our employees directly s‘ervmg clients, in addition to the related management, facilities and
infrastructure costs. Cost of revenue also 1anludes the costs of subcontractors and outside consultants, third-party
materials, such as hardware or software that we purchase and provide to the client as part of an integrated

solution, and any other related direct costs[ such as travel expenses. Since we earn higher profits on our own
labor services, we expect the ratio of cost ‘Hof revenue as a percent of revenue to decline when our labor services
mix increases relative to subcontracted labor or third-party material. Conversely, as subcontracted labor or third-

party material purchases for clients increase relative to our own labor services, we expect the ratio of cost of
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revenue as a percent of revenue to increase. Changes in the mix of services and equipment provided under our
contracts can result in variability in our contract margins. In addition, as we continue to bid and win larger
contracts, our own labor services component could decrease. This is because the larger contracts typically are
broader in scope and require more diverse capabilities resulting.in more subcontracted labor and the potential for
more third-party hardware and software purchases. While these factors could lead to a higher ratio of cost of
revenue as a percent of revenue, the economics of these larger jobs are nonetheless generally favorable because
they increase income, broaden our revenue base and have a favorable return on invested capital.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include the salaries and wages, plus associated fringe benefits
including stock-based compensation, of our employees not performing work directly for clients. Among the
functions covered by these costs are facilities, corporate business development, bid and proposal, contracts
administration, finance and accounting, legal, corporate governance, and executive and senior management.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization includes the depreciation of computers, furniture and other equipment, the
amortization of third party software we use internally, and leasehold improvements.

Amortization of Intangible Assets

Amortization of intangible assets includes the amortization of identifiable intangible assets over their
estimated useful lives. Non-compete agreements are generally amortized straight-line over the term of the
agreement, while contracts and related client relationships are amortized proportionately against the acquired
backlog.

Interest Expense

Interest expense is primarily related to interest expense incurred or accrued under our outstanding
borrowings and notes payable and, to a lesser extent, our interest rate swap agreement, deferred financing charges
and interest on capital leases.

Provision for Income Taxes

Prior to October 20, 2005, we were treated for tax purposes as an S corporation. Under our S corporation
election, all items of income and expense were “passed through™ and taxed at the stockholder level. As a result,
we were not required to record a provision for federal income taxes. However, we have recorded a provision for
state income taxes for those states that do not recognize the S corporation status. The provision for income taxes
for the year ended December 31, 2005 reflects the tax benefit associated with the initial booking of net deferred
tax assets as a result of the conversion from an S to a C corporation, offset by the tax provision for the period we
were a C corporation. For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2005, after giving effect to the
revocation of our S corporation status, we estimate our effective income tax rate would have been approximately
38.5%, 40.5% and 38.9% for the years ended 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain items from our consolidated statements of operations as a percentage
of revenue for the periods indicated.

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2004 2005

100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Revenue ..................

Operating costs and expenses:

Costofrevenue ......... i 83.2 84.2 85.2
General and administrative eXpenses ........................... 10.6 9.6 7.5
Depreciation and amortlzatluon ................................ 1.2 1.0 0.9
Amortization of intangible Tssets .............................. 0.0 0.7 05
Total operating costs and EXPENSES ... 95.0 95.5 94.1
Operating income . .......... \ .................................. 50 4.5 5.9
Interest income ......... L 0.0 0.0 0.1
Interestexpense ........01. ... . . .. 0.3) (0.8) (0.8)
Income beforetaxes .........0 .. o 4.7 3.7 52
Provision forincome taxes (1) . |.. ... . .o i 0.2 0.1 (1.2)
Netincome ................ R LR EEEERE R R, 45% 3.6% 64%

(1) For all periods prior to October 2\\0 2005, the Company was treated for tax purposes as an S corporation.
The tax provision shown for thos? periods reflect the taxes associated with various states that do not
recognize the S corporation tax status. The 2005 Provision for income taxes benefit reflects the transition
from an S to a C corporation and lthe tax benefit associated with the initial booking of our net deferred tax
assets, offset by the provisional taxes associated with the period the Company was a C corporation. See

Provision for Income Taxes above.

Year Ended December 31, 2005 Con‘xpared to Year Ended December 31, 2004

Revenue: Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2005 was $191.3 million, compared to $171.3 million
for the year ended December 31, 2004, representing an increase of $20.0 million, or 11.7%. The increase in
revenue was primarily due to new contract awards and growth on existing contracts. New contract awards consist
of numerous new task order awards un[der our ITES and NETCENTS contracts and a new contract with the
intelligence community. The addmonal revenue on these and other contracts was partially offset by a decrease in
revenue of approximately $7.5 m11110n\from expired contracts or funding reductions under existing contracts.

Cost of revenue: Cost of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2005 was $163.0 million, or 85.2% of
revenue, compared to $144,1 million, c‘r 84.2%, for the year ended December 31, 2004. The increase was due to
approximately $2.5 million in additional labor and related overhead costs and approximately $15.9 million in
additional subcontractor, equipment, and other direct costs. The increase in cost of revenue as a percent of
revenue was primarily due to the increalsed use of subcontractors and increased levels of hardware and equipment
acquired on behalf of our clients.

General and administrative expen?\'es General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31,
2005 were $14.4 million, or 7.5% of revenue, compared to $16.4 million, or 9.6%, for the year ended

December 31, 2004. The decrease in geperal and administrative expenses was primarily due to reductions of
general and administrative costs associated with SES after the completion of the integration of corporate
functions. Stock option compensation e‘xpense was $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005,

compared to $1.1 million for the year ended December 2004. General and administrative expenses as a percent of
revenue declined as we leveraged our corporate infrastructure expenses over a larger revenue base as well as

|
lower overall general and admmlstratlve expenses.
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Depreciation and amortization: Depreciation and amortization for the year ended December 31, 2005 was
$1.6 million, compared to $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The decrease in depreciation and
amortization was due primarily to the decreasing technology costs associated with our technology refresh
program. We update our computer technology every 36 to 42 months, and the cost of the new assets, and the
associated monthly depreciation charge, is less than the asset it is replacing.

Amortization of intangible assets: Amortization of intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2005
was $1.1 million, compared to $1.3 for the year ended December 31, 2004. The decrease was the result of
decreasing amortization associated with the contracts and client relationships intangible asset recorded in
connection with the acquisition of SES.

Operating income: For the year ended December 31, 2005, operating income was $11.2 million, or 5.9% of
revenue, compared to $7.8 million, or 4.5% for the year ended December 31, 2004. Operating income, as a
percent of revenue, increased primarily due to a decrease in general and administrative expenses and
amortization of intangible assets, which was partially offset by an increase in cost of revenue as a percent of
revenue.

Interest expense: For the year ended December 31, 2005, interest expense was $1.5 million, compared to
$1.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The increase in interest expense was primarily due to rising
interest rates.

Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2003

Revenue: Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2004 was $171.3 million, compared to $136.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2003, representing an increase of $34.9 million, or 25.6%. The increase in
revenue was primarily due to approximately $22.4 million which we assumed as a result of the 2003 SES
acquisition, $9.8 million in new contract awards and $18.5 million in contract growth under existing contracts
and task orders. New contract awards included the U.S. Army’s PEO STRI contract, various task orders under
the U.S. Army’s ITES GWAC and an award for the U.S. Air Force’s Aircraft Maintenance Intuitive
Troubleshooting (AMIT) program. The additional revenue on these and other contracts was partially offset by a
decrease in revenue of approximately $7.3 million from expired contracts and $9.7 million funding reductions
under existing contracts.

Cost of revenue: Cost of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2004 was $144.0 million, or 8§4.2% of
revenue, compared to $113.5 million, or 83.2%, for the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase was due to
approximately $19.6 million in additional labor and related overhead costs and approximately $11.1 million in
additional subcontract costs. The increase in cost of revenue as a percent of revenue was primarily due to the
increased use of subcontractors and increased levels of hardware and equipment acquired on behalf of our clients.

General and administrative expenses: General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31,
2004 were $16.4 million, or 9.6% of revenue, compared to $14.5 million, or 10.6%, for the year ended
December 31, 2003. The increase in general and administrative expenses was due to approximately $0.7 million
for the addition of senior executives to support corporate growth and approximately $3.0 million for the full-year
inclusion of general and administrative functions associated with SES. In addition, general and administrative
expenses increased due to $0.9 million in stock compensation expense resulting from the issuance of
non-qualified stock options to senior executives. These increases were offset, in part, by a reduction and
reallocation of approximately $2.8 million due to reorganization of our business development efforts. General
and administrative expenses as a percent of revenue declined as we leveraged our corporate infrastructure
expenses over a larger revenue base.

Depreciation and amortization: Depreciation and amortization for the year ended December 31, 2004 was
$1.7 million, compared to $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase in depreciation and
amortization was primarily due to increased amortization of leasehold improvements.
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Amortization of intangible assets: Amortization of intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2004
was $1.3 million, compared to $16,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase was the result of the
full-year amortization of intangible assets recorded in connection with the acquisition of SES.

Operating income: For the year ended December 31, 2004, operating income was $7.8 million, or 4.5% of
revenue, compared to $6.8 million, or“\S 0%, for the year ended December 31, 2003. Operating income, as a
percent of revenue, decreased pnmarﬂy due to an increase in cost of revenue, amortization of intangible assets
and stock compensation expense, wh1ch was partially offset by a decrease in general and administrative expenses

as a percent of revenue. !

I
Interest expense: For the year enlied December 31, 2004, interest expense was $1.4 million, compared to
$0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase in interest expense was due to increased
borrowing under our line of credit, a new term note used to finance the acquisition of SES and rising interest
rates. I
|
Supplemental Quarterly Informatio#l

Our results of operations, pamcularly our revernue, operating income and cash flow may vary significantly
from quarter to quarter depending on a number of factors, including the progress of contract performance, the
number of billable days in a quarter, vacation days, the timing of client orders, timing of award fee notices,
changes in the scope of contracts, billing of other direct and subcontract costs, the commencement and
completion of contracts we have been glwarded and general economic conditions. Because a significant portion of
our expenses, such as personnel and fa“cilities costs, are fixed in the short term, successful contract performance
and variation in the volume of activity,jas well as in the number of contracts or task orders commenced or

completed during any quarter, may cau‘\se significant variations in operating results from quarter to quarter.

I

The federal government’s fiscal year ends September 30. If a federal budget for the next federal fiscal year
has not been approved by that date in each year, our clients may have to suspend engagements that we are
working on until a budget has been appl‘[[roved. Any such suspensions may reduce our revenue in the fourth quarter
of that year or the first quarter of the subsequent year. The federal government’s fiscal year end can also trigger
increased purchase requests from clients for equipment and materials. Any increased purchase requests we
receive as a result of the federal govem‘mem’ s fiscal year end would serve to increase our third or fourth quarter
revenue, but will generally decrease profit margins for that quarter, as these activities generally are not as

profitable as our typical offerings.
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As a result of the above factors, period-to-period comparisons of our revenue and operating results may not
be meaningful. Investors should not rely on these comparisons as indicators of future performance as no
assurances can be given that quarterly results will not fluctuate, causing a material adverse effect on our
operating results and financial condition. The following table sets forth quarterly unaudited consolidated
financial data for the fiscal quarters of 2004 and 2005, expressed in dollars and as a percentage of total revenues

for the respective periods.

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenue ......... ... . ...

Operating costs and expenses:

Costofrevenue .....................
General and administrative expenses (1) . ...
Depreciation-and amortization ..........
Amortization of intangible assets .......

Total operating costs and expenses ..........
Operating income . ............c.covneeenen

Interestincome . .........c.covveiinenen..
Interestexpense ............ ... ... ...

Income before income taxes ...............
Provision for income taxes (2) . .............

Netincome . ............ .o iiiininnn...

Pro forma earnings per share (3)

Basic........ .
Diluted ............................

As a Percentage of Revenue:

Revenue ............iiiiiinnnnennnnn.

Operating costs and expenses:

Costofrevenue .....................
General and administrative expenses (1) .. ..
Depreciation and amortization . .........
Amortization of intangible assets .......

Total operating costs and expenses ..........
Operatingincome . .............cooinnn..

Interestincome .. ........................
Interestexpense ............ .. ... .......

Income before income taxes ...............
Provision for income taxes (2} ..............

Netincome . ......viviiiit i

For the quarter ended

Mar. 31, June 30, Sept.30, Dec.31, Mar.31, June 30, Sept.30, Dec.31,
2004 2004 2004 2004 2005 2005 2005 2005

(in thousands)

$40,843 $40,384 $44,261 $45,765 $46,372 $47,503 $50,081 $47,363

34,289 33,940 37,536 38,380 39,567 40,104 43,038 40,281
4,132 3904 3939 4,387 3,622 3,617 3053 4,119
449 437 435 420 398 403 418 417
309 307 320 316 272 267 261 253

39,179 38,588 42,230 43,503 43,859 44,391 46,770 45,070
1,664 1,796 2,031 2262 2513 3,112 3,311 2,293

2 4 8 13 8 18 29 70
401) (3200 (364) (288) (352) (416) (491) (205)

1,265 1,480 1,675 1,987 2,169 2,714 2849 2,158
55 64 72 86 102 118 129 (2,774)

$ 1,210 $ 1,416 $ 1,603 § 1,901 $ 2,067 § 2,596 § 2,720 § 4,932

$ 011$ 013% 0158 017% 0208 024 3% 0265 0.11
$ 011% 012% 014 % 016$ 018 8% 023 % 0248 0.11

For the quarter ended

Mar. 31, June 30, Sept.30, Dec.31, Mar. 31, June 30, Sept.30, Dec. 31,
2004 2004 2004 2004 2003 2005 2005 2005

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

84.0 84.0 84.8 83.9 85.4 84.5 86.0 85.1
10.1 9.7 8.9 9.6 7.8 7.6 6.1 8.7
1.1 1.1 1.0 0.9 0.9 0.8 0.8 0.9
0.8 0.8 0.7 0.7 0.6 0.6 0.5 0.5

96.0 95.6 95.4 95.1 94.7 93.5 934 95.2
4.0 44 4.6 49 53 6.5 6.6 4.8

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1
(1.0 0.8) (0.8) 0.6) (0.8) 0.9 1.0 0.3)

3.0 3.6 3.8 4.3 4.5 5.6 57 4.6
0.1 0.2 02 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3 (5.8)

29% 34% 36% 42% 43% 54% 54% 104%

(1) General and administrative expenses for the quarter ended December 31, 2005, includes accelerated stock option
compensation expense of $0.9 million due to accelerated vesting on certain options as a result of the initial public

offering.

(2) For all periods prior to October 20, 2005, the Company was treated for tax purposes as an S corporation. The tax
provision shown for those periods reflect the taxes associated with various states that do not recognize the S corporation
tax status. The fourth quarter 2005 Provision for income taxes benefit reflects the transition from an S to a C corporation
and the tax benefit associated with the initial booking of our net deferred tax assets, offset by the provisional taxes
associated with the period the Company was a C corporation. See Provision for Income Taxes above.

(3) Pro forma earnings per share is based on pro forma net income assuming we had been taxed as a C corporation in all
periods when our S corporation election was in effect.
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Effects of Inflation

We generally have been able to price our contracts in a manner to accommodate the rates of inflation
experienced in recent years. In 2005, we conducted approximately 54.2% of our business under
time-and-materials contracts, where I%bor rates are usually adjusted annually by predetermined escalation factors.
Also in 2005, we conducted approximately 27.8% of our business under cost-plus contracts, which automatically
adjust for changes in cost. We conduc“lted the remaining 18.0% of our business under fixed-price contracts, in
which we include a predetermined escalation factor and for which we generally have not been adversely affected
by inflation. q

[
I

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary liquidity needs are for financing working capital, investing in capital expenditures and making
selective strategic acquisitions. Historically, we have relied primarily on our cash flow from operations and
borrowings under our credit facility to\\provide the capital for our liquidity needs. We expect the combination of
current cash on hand, cash flow from éperations and the available borrowing capacity on our credit facility to
continue to meet our normal working capital and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next twelve
months. As part of our growth strategy‘\!, we may pursue acquisitions that could require us to raise additional
external capital. ]

Cash and ner working capital: Thl\e following table sets forth our cash and net working capital (current assets
less current liabilities) balances as of December 31, 2004 and 2005.

As of December 31,
2004 2005
(in thousands)
Cashandcashequivalents . .....0. ... ... it i $ 40 812,323
Net working capital .. ... .. ... 4,653 36,089

We consider cash on deposit and a;}‘ll highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or
less to be cash and cash equivalents. W‘ﬁ: maintain minimal cash balances and have substantially all available cash
credited against our borrowings under our line of credit. If all borrowings have been paid down, we invest excess
cash in high quality investments which preserve principal, provide liquidity, and minimize investment risk. Net
working capital increased by $31.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 as compared to an increase by
$2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The increase for the year ended December 31, 2005 was
primarily due to a $12.3 million increase in cash, an $8.1 million increase in accounts receivable, a $4.6 million
increase in net current deferred tax assets and a $15.2 million decrease in the line of credit and current portion of
notes payable, offset by a $5.9 million increase in distribution payable, a $1.8 million increase in accounts
payable and a $1.0 million increase in accrued salaries and benefits. The significant increase in cash and pay
down of all outstanding bank borrowing“ is the result of proceeds from the initial public offering.

Cash flow: The following table sets forth our sources and uses of cash for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2004 and 2005.

Year ended December 31,

2003 2004 2005
(in thousands)
Net cash provided by operating actiﬁvities ..................... $12,353  $9,232  § 8902
Net cash used in investing activitiesﬂ ......................... (24,419) (1,804) (3,181)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ............. 13,090 (8,728) 6,562
Net increase (decrease)incash ... ..... ... ... ... .. u... $ 1,024 $(1,300) $12,283
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Our operating cash flow is primarily affected by the overall profitability of our contracts, our ability to
invoice and collect from our clients in a timely manner, and our ability to manage our vendor payments. We bill
most of our clients and prime contractors monthly after services are rendered. Improving our invoicing and
collection procedures remains a top priority in order to increase cash flow from operations. The $0.3 million
decrease in cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to the year
ended December 31, 2004 was primarily due to an $8.1 million increase in accounts receivable, offset by
increased profitability of $6.2 million for the year. The $3.1 million decrease in net cash provided by operating
activities for the year ended December 31, 2004 was caused primarily by a $5.3 million increase in accounts
receivable compared to a $3.7 million decrease in accounts receivable for the year ended December 31, 2003.
This increase was caused by growth in our business, yet reflects our improved invoicing and collection efforts.
The increase in accounts receivable was partially offset by an increase of $0.9 million in stock compensation
expense related to the issuance of non-qualified stock options to senior executives in 2004.

Our cash flow used in investing activities consists primarily of capital expenditures and acquisitions. Our
increase in cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2004 was primarily due to increased capital expenditures, primarily related to the build-out of a
new SCIF at one of our locations, and the final SES acquisition payment. The $2.2 million in cash used for
investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2004 was primarily due to $1.0 million in capital
expenditures and $1.2 million in additional payments related to the SES acquisition. The $24.5 million in cash
used for investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2003 was primarily due to $19.2 million in cash
used to acquire SES in December 2003 and capital expenditures of $5.3 million. The increased capital
expenditures in 2003 were primarily due to the relocation of our headquarters and the leasehold improvements
and other fixed asset additions associated with that relocation.

Our cash flow provided by financing activities consists primarily of proceeds from the initial public
offering, proceeds from and payments on our line of credit and term note, and distributions to our stockholders.
Our increase in cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to the year
ended December 31, 2004 was primarily due to the proceeds from the initial public offering of $51.6 million,
offset by payment on the line of credit and term loans of $23.9 million and distributions to our S corporation
stockholders of $21.0 million. For the year ended December 31, 2004, cash flow used in financing activities
included $2.6 million in scheduled amortization payments on the term note, payments of $2.5 million on the line
of credit and distributions to stockholders of $3.5 million, partially offset by a $0.2 million increase in capital
lease obligations. The $13.2 million provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2003 was
primarily due to increased borrowing under our line of credit and a $14.0 million term note. Borrowings under
the line of credit and the term note were used to finance the acquisition of SES in December 2003.

Credit Agreement: On December 23, 2003, we entered into a Loan and Security Agreement that provides for
a $30.0 million revolving note and a $14.0 million term note.

The revolving note provides a line of credit of up to $30.0 million, limited to a percentage of our eligible
receivables under the Loan and Security Agreement. The outstanding balance of the line of credit accrues interest
based on LIBOR plus an applicable margin. The outstanding borrowings are collateralized by a security interest
in substantially all of our assets. The bank also requires a direct assignment of all of our contracts at the bank’s
discretion. The line of credit expires on December 31, 2006, but may be renewed by agreement of the parties.

The following table summarizes our line of credit as of December 31, 2004 and 2005.

As of December 31,
2004 2005
(dollars in thousands)
Amount available under lineof credit . . ............ ... ... .. ..., $26,788  $30,000
Outstanding balance ........ ... ... ... ... .. ... . 12,440 —
Unused portion . ........irerir i $14,348  $30,000
Interestrateonlineof credit .......... .. .. . . i 4.5% 6.9%



For the years ended December %1, 2005, 2004 and 2003, the interest expense on the line of credit was
approximately $0.6 million, $0.6 mill‘lion and $0.3 million, respectively.

The $14.0 million term note wals provided as part of the financing for our acquisition of SES in December
2003. The term note balance is bemg‘! amortized over 60 months commencmg February 1, 2004 with the balance
of $5.6 million due on December 31,
margin. In connection with the term Inote, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement with an initial notional
amount of $14.0 million, which amozl"tlzes at the same rate as the term note. The interest rate swap agreement has

effectively fixed our interest rate on t‘he term note at 2.6% plus the applicable margin.

Our scheduled term note maturmes for the years following December 31, 2004 are: $2.8 million in 2005 and
$8.4 million in 2006, including the fital payment of $5.6 million due on December 31, 2006. For the vears ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, the 1ntgrest expense on the term note was approximately $0.5 million and $0.6
million, respectively. The balance of the term note was paid off in October of 2005 with the proceeds from the

initial public offering.

The following table summarizes|the outstanding balance and applicable interest rate on our term note as of
December 31, 2004 and 2005.

As of December 31,

2004 2005
(dollars in thousands)
Qutstanding balance ........0 ... ... ... $11,433 $ 0
Interest rate on term note . .. .. | \ ...................................... 50% N/A

On July 25, 2005, we amended tlhle Loan and Security Agreement to provide for additional borrowings under

a six-month time loan of up to $15.0 million. The time loan will be due in T anuary 2006 or upon receipt of
proceeds from the offering, whicheve occurs first, and will bear interest at LIBOR plus 45 basis points. On
July 26, 2005, we borrowed $15 million under the time loan. In October 2005, we paid off the time loan with the
proceeds of the initial public offering.

The Loan and Security Agreemelllt requires that we meet certain financial covenants, including a minimum
net worth, a funded debt ratio and a fixed charge coverage ratio. We are in compliance with these financial

covenants.

On March 14, 2006, we entered into a new five year Loan and Security Agreement that provides a line of
credit of $60.0 million, Contemporane\\ously with the execution of the Agreement, we terminated our prior Loan
and Security Agreement. The borrow1rh1g capacity under the new Loan and Security Agreement consists of a
revolving credit facility with an ongm:lﬂ principal amount of up to $60.0 million and a swingline facility with an
original principal amount of up to $5.0 million. The new Loan and Security Agreement also has a $30.0 million
accordion feature allowing us to increase our borrowing capacity to up to $90.0 million, subject to obtaining
commitments for the incremental capacity from existing or new lenders. The outstanding balance of the facility
accrues interest based on LIBOR plus an applicable margin, ranging from 100 to 175 basis points, based on a
ratio of our funded debt to earnings. ]\

* The outstanding borrowings a“1"e collateralized by a security interest in substantially all of our assets. The

lenders also require a direct assignment of all of our contracts at the lenders’ discretion. The Loan and
Security Agreement contains customary affirmative and restrictive covenants, and various financial
covenants, including a minimum net worth, minimum fixed charge coverage and funded debt to
earnings ratios, and capital expenditure limitations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sﬁeet arrangements.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2005 that require us to
make future cash payments.

Payments due by period
Less than 1-3 3.5 More than
Total 1 year years years 5 years

(in thousands)
Contractual obligations:

REVOIVING NOE .\ttt e it i it e $ — $§— $ — $— § —
Capital lease obligations . .............. .. ... oy 503 294 209 — —
Operating lease obligations . .. ........................ 406 241 165 — —
Rentonfacilities .......... .. ... i i 24,796 4,193 10,497 8,736 1,370
Total .. e $25,705 $4,728 $10,871 $8,736  $1,370

Critical Accounting Policies
Revenue Recognition

Our revenue recognition policy addresses our three different types of contractual arrangements:
time-and-materials contracts; cost-plus contracts; and fixed-price contracts.

Time-and-Materials Contracts: Revenue on time-and-materials contracts is recognized based on negotiated
billable rates multiplied by the number of hours delivered plus allowable expenses incurred during the period.

Cost-Plus Contracts: Revenue on cost-plus contracts is recognized based on the allowable costs incurred
during the period, plus any recognizable earned fee. Revenue associated with fixed fees under cost-plus contracts
is considered earned in proportion to the allowable expenses incurred in performance of the contract.

Fixed-Price Contracts: The Company has three categories of fixed-price contracts: fixed unit price; fixed-price
level-of-effort; and fixed-price completion contracts. Revenue on fixed unit price contracts, where specified units
are delivered under service arrangements, is recognized as units are delivered based on the specified price per unit.
Revenue for fixed-price level-of-effort contracts is recognized based upon the number of units of labor actually
delivered multipiied by the negotiated rate for each unit of labor. Revenue on fixed-price completion contracts is
recognized on the percentage of completion method using costs incurred in relation to total estimated costs.

For contracts with performance based incentives or award fees, revenue is recognized as earned. Certain
fees are not recognized until award notification is received, which may result in revenue and profit variability
from quarter to quarter.

Contract accounting requires judgment relative to assessing risks, estimating contract revenues and costs,
and making assumptions for schedule and technical issues. Due to the size and nature of certain of our contracts
that require the use of estimates or related assumptions, the estimation of total revenue and cost at completion is
subject to many variables. Contract costs include material, labor and subcontracting costs, as well as an
allocation of allowable indirect costs. Assumptions have to be made regarding the length of time to complete the
contract because costs also include expected increases in wages and prices for materials. We apply judgment in
estimating the amounts and assessing the potential for realization. Further, we utilize a number of management
processes to monitor contract performance and revenue estimates, including quarterly management reviews of
contract estimates. These amounts are only included in contract value when they can be reliably estimated and
realization is considered probable. Estimates of award fees related to performance on certain contracts, which are
generally awarded at the discretion of the client, as well as penalties related to contract performance, are
considered in estimating sales and profit rates. Incentives and penalties are recorded when there is sufficient
information for us to assess anticipated performance. Anticipated losses on contracts are recognized at the time
they become known.
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From time to time, circumstances|develop or actual amounts are determinable that require us to revise our
total estimated costs or revenue expectations. We record the effect of any revisions to our estimated total costs
and revenue in the period in which circumstances requiring revision become known. Consequently, operating
results could be affected by revisions te prior accounting estimates. Historically, these changes relate to changes
in the contractual scope of our work, and have not significantly impacted the expected profit rate on a contract.
We do not expect that revisions to our Téstimates and assumptions would have a material effect on the Company’s

consolidated results of operations, cas.hl flows or financial position.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for stock-based compensation in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock [ssued to Employ“ées (APB No. 25) using the intrinsic-value method. Under this method, we
recognized approximately $0.3 mjllion,‘\‘ $1.2 million and $1.6 million in compensation expense in the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2005, respectively, for non-qualified stock options issued during 2003 and
2004. We allocate this expense either to cost of revenues or general and administrative expenses depending on
the recipient of the option. We have issiied non-qualified stock options to employees at various times during
2003 and 2004 with vesting periods ran‘ging from zero to seven years. Compensation expense for the amount that
the fair value of the stock at the grant date exceeds the exercise price is being amortized over the applicable
vesting periods. In addition to the standard vesting schedule, some of the option agreements have accelerated
vesting upon the occurrence of certain ﬁvents, including the achievement of certain revenue and profit goals. We
estimate our stock compensation expense for the options outstanding as of December 31, 20035, to be
approximately $0.2 million each year f(%r 2006 through 2009, but up to an additional $0.2 million could be
expensed in the year the revenue and pri‘iofit goals are achieved, which would reduce the expense in subsequent
years.

|

In December 2004, the Financial A“\ccounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Statement No. 123
(revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (§FAS No. 123(R)), which is a revision of FASB Statement No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensat“‘ion (SFAS No. 123). (See discussion below under Significant New
Accounting Pronouncement.) All of our\‘ outstanding options as of December 31, 2005 were issued while we were
a nonpublic entity and we did not use th”e fair-value-based method of accounting for the options. Under SFAS
No. 123 (R), we are required to apply th”e prospective transition method of accounting as of the required effective
date, which is, for us, January 1, 2006. Under the prospective method, options issued as a nonpublic entity
accounting for its equity-based awards using the intrinsic-value method under APB No. 25, would continue to
apply APB No. 25 in future periods to a‘wards outstanding at the date they adopt SFAS No. 123(R). Therefore,
there will be no change to the projected stock compensation expenses for our existing stock options as a result of

SFAS No. 123(R).

Goodwill and the Amortization of Intangible Assets

Our accounting policy regarding acquisitions is in accordance with SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations,
whereby the net tangible and identifiabl% intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recognized at their
estimated fair market values at the date of acquisition. At the time of the acquisition, all intangibles including the
contracts and related client relationships|and non-compete agreements are reviewed to determine the term of

amortization for each intangible asset.

Our accounting policy regarding goodwill and the amortization of intangible assets requires that goodwill be
reviewed pertodically for impairment and no longer be amortized against earnings. Annually, on October 1, we
perform a fair value analysis of our reporting units using valuation techniques prescribed in Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS)No. 142.

Long-lived assets are reviewed for i‘,mpairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset many not be fully recoverable in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. An impairment loss is recognized if the sum of the long-term undiscounted
cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the long-lived asset being evaluated. Any write-downs are treated
as permanent reductions in the carrying amount of the assets.

Contract rights are amortized proportionately against the acquired backlog. Non-compete agreements are
amortized over their estimated useful lives.

Significant New Accounting Pronouncement

In December 2004, FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R), which is a revision of SFAS No. 123. SFAS No. 123(R)
supersedes APB No. 25, and amends FASB Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows. We plan to adopt SFAS
No. 123(R) effective January 1, 2006, the first fiscal year we are required to implement the pronouncement.
SFAS No. 123(R) requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options,
to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values (i.e. pro forma disclosure is no longer an
alternative to financial statement recognition). Because all of our outstanding options as of December 31, 2005
were issued while we were a nonpublic entity that did not use the fair-value-based method of accounting, we are
required to apply the prospective transition method of accounting under SFAS No. 123(R) as of the required
effective date. Under the prospective method, for options issued by a nonpublic entity accounting for its equity-
based awards using the intrinsic-value method under APB No. 25, the entity would continue to apply APB
No. 25 in future periods to awards outstanding at the date they adopt SFAS No. 123(R). All awards granted,
modified or settled after the date of adoption will be accounted for using the measurement, recognition and
attribution provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). Although the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) is expected to affect the
measurement of share-based equity awards to employees after adoption, we do not expect the adoption will have
a material effect on our consclidated results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our exposure to market risk relates to changes in interest rates for borrowings under our revolving credit
agreement and our term loan. These borrowings accrue interest at variable rates. Based upon our borrowings
under these two facilities in 2005, a 1% increase in interest rates would have increased interest expense by
approximately $218,000 and would have decreased our annual cash flow by a comparable amount.

Since our initial public offering, our board of directors approved an investment policy that requires we

invest excess cash in high quality investments which preserve principal, provide liquidity, and minimize
investment risk.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMFIJ{NTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

|
The consolidated financial state\‘ments of NCI, Inc. are submitted on pages F-1 through F-25 of this report.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

The Company has had no disag)‘geements with its auditors on accounting principles, practices or financial
statement disclosure during and through the date of the financial statements included in this Report.

|
I
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate disclosure controls and procedures
and internal control over financial re;“mrting. Disclosure controls and procedures are designed with the objective
of ensuring that information required\\ to be disclosed in the Company’s reports filed or submitted under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, such as this Annual Report on Form 10-K, is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods gpeciﬁed in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures
are also designed with the objective of ensuring that such information is accumulated and communicated to the
Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as

appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure,

Internal control over financial reborting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer a“‘nd Chief Financial Officer, and effected by the Company’s management
and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles and includes those policies and procedures that:

» pertain to the maintenance ofw\ records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositionsiof the Company’s assets;

¢ provide reasonable assurance‘\ that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accor%ance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that the
Company’s receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of

management or the Company's Board of Directors; and

» provide reasonable assurancejregarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use
or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
financial statements.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, do not expect
that the Company’s disclosure controls]‘\ and procedures or the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
will prevent all errors and all fraud. A %ontrol system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide
only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a

] )
control system must reflect the fact thaﬁ there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be
considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of

controls can provide absolute assurance;;c that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company

have been detected. These inherent lim%tations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be
faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be

circumvented by the individual acts of s’j‘ome persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management’s
override of the control. The design of al’”1y system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about
the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated
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goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent
limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Scope of the Assessments

The assessment by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and the Company’s Chief Financial Officer of
the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures included a review of procedures and discussions with other
employees in the Company’s organization. In the course of the assessments, management sought to identify data
errors, control problems or acts of fraud and to confirm that appropriate corrective action, including process
improvements, were being undertaken. The assessments of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures is
done on a periodic basis so that the conclusions can be reported each quarter on Form 10-Q, including the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K with respect to the fourth quarter. The Company’s key controls related
to its internal control over financial reporting are updated on a periodic basis by management and other personnel
in the Company’s accounting department.

Evaluation of the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

Based upon the evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have
concluded that, as of December 31, 2005, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.
Not Applicable.
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PART HI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT.

The information concerning our directors and executive officers required by Item 401 of Regulation S-K is
included under the captions “Election :[of Directors” and “Executive Compensation,” respectively, in our
definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC in connection with our 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

(the 2006 Proxy Statement”), and that information is incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K.

The information required by Item 405 of Regulation S-K concerning compliance with Section 16(a) of the
Exchange Act is included under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in our
2006 Proxy Statement, and that information is incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K.

The information required by Item 406 of Regulation S-K concerning the Company’s Code of Ethics is
included in our 2006 Proxy Statement; and that information is incorporated by referenced in this Form 10-K.

[
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required by this Item 11 is included in the text and tables under the caption “Executive
Compensation” in our 2006 Proxy Statement, and that information is incorporated by reference in this
Form 10-K.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHHP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT.

|
The information required by this Item 12 is included under the captions “Ownership by Our Directors and
Executive Officers” and “Ownership bﬂ/ Holders of More Than 5% of Our Class A Common Stock™ in our 2006
Proxy Statement, and that information is incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSH}[IPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS.

The information required by this I;}em 13 is included under the caption “Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions” in our 2006 Proxy Staterpent, and that information is incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTAWNT FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required by this Item 14 is included under the captions “Ratification of Appointment of
Independent Auditors—Fees Paid to Ingependent Accountants” and “—Policy Regarding Audit Committee
Pre-Approval of Audit and Permitted Non-audit Services” in our 2006 Proxy Statement, and that information is

incorporated by reference in this Form ‘ 0-K.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES,
(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this annual report on Form 10-K:

(1) All financial statements:

DESCRIPTION

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on the Consolidated Financial Statements . . ... F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,2004 and 2005 ........ ... . it F-3
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 ............ F-4
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004

AN 2005 . . o e e F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 ......... F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements . ... ..o vttt ettt e F-7

(2) Financial statement schedule:
SCHEDULE NO. DESCRIPTION
Schedule I Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(3) Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K:

Number Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger by and between NCI Information Systems, Inc. and NCI Acquisition,
LLC, dated as of September 1, 2005 (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 2.1 to
registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the
Commission on September 6, 2003, as amended).

2.2 Share Exchange Agreement by and between NCI, Inc. and Charles Narang, dated as of September 1,
2005 (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 2.2 to registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the Commission on September 6, 2005, as amended).

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated herein by
reference from Exhibit 3.1 to registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006),
as filed with the Commission on October 4, 2005, as amended).

32 Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 3.2 to registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the Commission on July 29,
2005).

4.1 Specimen Class A Common Stock Certificate (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to

registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the
Commission on October 20, 2005, as amended).

4.2% NCI, Inc. 2005 Performance Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4.2 to
registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the
Commission on July 29, 2005).

4.3* Form of 2005 Performance Incentive Plan Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option
Agreement (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4.4 to registrant’s Registration Statement
on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the Commission on October 20, 2003, as
amended).

4.4* Amendment to NCI, Inc. Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated herein by reference
from Exhibit 4.5 to registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed
with the Commission on October 4, 2005, as amended).
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2005 Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 4.6 to registrant’s
Registration Statement on F“[orm S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the Commission on October
4, 2005, as amended). j
Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement by and between NCI Information Systems, Inc. and Linda
J. Allan dated May 4, 2001 (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to registrant’s

Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the Commission on July 29,

Non-Statutory Stock Option} Agreement by and between NCI Information Systems, Inc. and Norris
B. Carter dated May 5, 2000 (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to registrant’s

Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the Commission on July 29,

Tax Indemnification Agreement between NCI, Inc. and stockholders of NCI, Inc., dated as of
September 1, 2005 (incorpo "ated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.3 registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the Commission on September 6, 2005,

401(k) Profit Sharing Plan (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.4 to registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the Commission on July 29,

2005). \‘

Loan and Security Agreemerllt between SunTrust Bank and NCI Information Systems, Inc. dated as
of December 23, 2003 (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.5 to registrant’s

Registration Statement on F(hrm S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the Commission on July 29,

Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement between SunTrust Bank and NCI Information Systems,
Inc. dated as of May 6, 2004|(incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.6 to registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the Commission on July 29,

Second Amendment to Loan|and Security Agreement between SunTrust Bank and NCI Information
Systems, Inc. dated as of March 15, 2005 (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.7 to
registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the
Commission on July 29, 2005).

Third Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement between SunTrust Bank and NCI Information
Systems, Inc dated as of July|25, 2005 (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.8 to
registrant’s Registration Stat#ment on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the
Commission on July 29, 2005).

Loan and Security Agreemen}, dated March 14, 2006, by and among NCI, Inc., as the Parent
Borrower, each of the Subsidiary Borrowers identified on the signature pages thereto, the several
banks and financial mstnutlor”xs from time to time parties to the agreement, and SunTrust Bank as the
Administrative Agent. (mcorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to registrant’s Current Report on

Form 8-K dated March 14, 2006 and filed with the Commission on March 17, 2006).

Lease Agreement between NCI Information Systems, Inc. and Winthrop Resources Corporation,
dated October 22, 2003 (1ncorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.9 to registrant’s
Registration Statement on Fo?n S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the Commission on July 29,

Number Description
4.5%

10.1*

2005).
10.2

2005).
10.3

as amended).
10.4*
10.5

2005).
10.6

2005).
10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10

2005).
10.11

Lease by and between NCI Informatlon Systems, Inc. and Plaza America Office Development II,
LLC dated as of January 13, 2‘003 (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.10 to
registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the

Commission on July 29, 2005‘
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Number

Description

10.12

10.13

10.14*

10.15%

10.16

10.17%*

10.18*

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23*

10.24*

21.1

Lease by and between NCI Information Systems, Inc. and Corporate Center II, LLC dated as of
March 8, 2001 (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.11 to registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the Commiission on July 29, 2005).

Office Lease Agreement by and between JFB Joint Venture Limited Partnership and Scientific
Engineering Solutions, Inc. dated as of April 13, 1998 (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit
10.12 to registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the
Commission on July 29, 2005).

Option Assumption Agreement dated July 29, 2005 between NCI, Inc. and Linda Allan (incorporated
herein by reference from Exhibit 10.13 to registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No.
333-127006), as filed with the Commission on September 6, 2005, as amended).

Michael W. Solley Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated herein by reference from
Exhibit 10.14 to registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with
the Commission on October 4, 2005, as amended).

Option Assumption Agreement dated September 2, 2005 between NCI, Inc. and the personal
representatives of Norris B. Carter (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.15 to
registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the
Commission on October 4, 2005, as amended).

Judith L. Bjornaas Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated herein by reference from
Exhibit 10.16 to registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with
the Commission on October 4, 2005, as amended).

Form of Lock-Up Agreement (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.17 to registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the Commission on October
4, 2005, as amended).

Subcontract Agreement between NCI Information Systems, Inc. and Net Commerce Corporation
dated as of January 27, 2005 (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.18 to registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the Commission on October
4, 2005, as amended).

Purchase Order to New Commerce Corporation dated February 3, 2005 (incorporated herein by
reference from Exhibit 10.19 to registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No.
333-127006), as filed with the Commission on October 4, 2005, as amended).

Purchase Order to Net Commerce Corporation dated February 10, 2005 (incorporated herein by
reference from Exhibit 10.20 to registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No.
333-127006), as filed with the Commuission on October 4, 2005, as amended).

Change Order to Net Commerce Corporation dated February 10, 2005 (incorporated herein by
reference from Exhibit 10.21 to registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No.
333-127006), as filed with the Commission on October 4, 2005, as amended).

Amendment to Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement by and between NCI, Inc. and Judith

L. Bjornaas dated as of October 13, 2005 (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.22 to
registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the
Commission on October 20, 2005, as amended).

Amendment to Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement by and between NCI, Inc. and Michael
W. Solley dated as of October 13, 2005 (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.23 to
registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the
Commission on October 20, 20035, as amended).

Subsidiaries of Registrant (incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 21.1 to registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127006), as filed with the Commission on July 29,
2005).
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Number

Description

23.1%
31.1%

31.2%

32.1%

322%

1 Included with this filing.

Consent of Emst & Young LLP.

Certification of the Chief] Executive Officer pursuant to rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended.

Certification of the Chief|Financial Officer pursuant to rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended.

Certification of the Chief I;Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Management Contract or Compensatory Plan or Arrangement.

(b) Exhibits. The exhibits requireﬁ by this Item are listed under Item 15(2)(3).

{¢) Financial Statement Schedule. The financial statement schedule required by this Item is listed under

15(a)(2). All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission are not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable, and

therefore have been omitted.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

NCIJ, Inc.
Registrant
Date: March 30, 2006 By: /s/ CHARLES K. NARANG
Charles K. Narang
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Date: March 30, 2006 By: /s/ _JUDITH L. BIORNAAS

Judith L. Bjornaas
Senior Vice President
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.

Signature .]lii]f Ea_te
/s/ CHARLES K. NARANG Chief Executive Officer and Chairman March 30, 2006
Charles K, Narang of the Board

(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ MICHAEL W. SOLLEY President and Director March 30, 2006
Michael W. Solley

/s/  JUDITH L. BJORNAAS Senior Vice President and Chief March 30, 2006
Judith L. Bjornaas Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting
Officer)
/s/ JAMES P, ALLEN Director March 30, 2006

James P. Allen

/s/  JoHN E. LAWLER Director March 30, 2006
John E. Lawler

/s/ PAUL V. LOMBARDI Director March 30, 2006
Paul V. Lombardi

/s/ J. PATRICK MCMAHON Director March 30, 2006
J. Patrick McMahon

/s/ DANIEL R. YOUNG Director March 30, 2006
Daniel R. Young
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
NCI, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of NCI, Inc. as of December 31, 2005 and
2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2005. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule
listed in the Index at Item 15(a). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an
audit of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal
control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of NCI, Inc. at December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the consolidated results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Also, in our opinion, the related financial
statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly
in all material respects the information set forth therein.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Mclean, VA
February 23, 2006
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Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Deferred tax asset,net .........
Prepaid expenses and other curren

Total current assets ...............
Property and equipment, net
Otherassets .....................
Deferred tax asset,net .............
Intangible assets,net .............. |
GOOdWIll © .o |

Totalassets ..................... \

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity

Current liabilities:
Lineofcredit ................
Accounts payable ............]|
Accrued salaries and benefits . . ..
Other accrued expenses/liabilities |
Deferredrevenue .............,
Current portion of notes payable . .
Distributions payable |

Total current liabilities
Other liabilities

Long-term notes payable, less current portion

Deferred rent

Total liabilities

Stockholders’ equity:
Class A common stock, $0.019 par
7,027,760 shares issued and outs

NCI, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
thousands, except share amounts)

..........................................

value—37,500,000 shares authorized; 478,946 and
anding, respectively

Class B common stock, $0.019 par value—12,500,000 shares authorized; 6,300,000

shares issued and outstanding . .
Additional paid-in capital
Deferred compensation
Retained earnings

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

F-3

As of December 31,
2004 2005
$ 40 $12,323
38,458 46,611
— 4,570
381 669
38,879 64,173
6,299 6,031
1,093 558
— 494
2,391 1,338
15,508 17,427
$64,170 $90,021
$12440 $ —
7,086 8,854
8,373 9,416
2,946 2,936
581 1,012
2,800 —
— 5,866
34,226 28,084
425 204
8,633 —_
4,843 4,562
48,127 32,850
9 134
120 120
5,508 57,658
(2,693) (741
13,099 —_
16,043 57,171

$64,170  $90,021




NCI, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Income
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

ReVENUE . e e

Operating costs and expenses:

Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and amortization, shown
separately below) . ... ... . L
General and administrative Xpense . .. .....vve it
Depreciation and amortization . .............c.. vt
Amortization of intangible assets .. ........ ... .. i

Total operating costs and EXPENSES . . ... vvrrir ettt

Operating inMCoIMIE . .. ...ttt ettt e et e
Interest inCOME ... ... i e
Interest expense .. ... e

Income before taXes ... oot e
Income tax expense (benefit) ..... .. ... ... ... . . i

NEt INCOMIE & oottt et e e e e e e e e

Earnings per common and common equivalent share:

Basic:
Weighted average shares outstanding ............................
Netincome pershare ........ ..o iiiiiiiniiiiinnenn.

Diluted:
Weighted average shares and equivalent shares outstanding . . .........
Netincome perShare . ...........ouuiiiiin e enneennn.

Unaudited pro forma information (See Note 16):

Income before taxes . .......co it e
Pro forma provision for income taxes ............... .. ..o ui....

ProformanetinCome . ...... ...ttt it i eieeiianns

Unaudited pro forma earnings per common and common equivalent share:

Basic:
Weighted average shares outstanding ................. ... ...
Pro forma netincome pershare .................. ... ... .. .....

Diluted:
Weighted average shares and equivalent shares outstanding .. .........
Pro forma netincome pershare .............. .. .. .. . ...,

Year ended December 31,

2003 2004 2005
$136,421 $171,253 $191,319
113,521 144,146 162,990
14,524 16,363 14,411
1,576 1,741 1,636
16 1,252 1,053
129,637 163,502 180,090
6,784 7,751 11,229

15 26 125
(439)  (1,373) (1,464)
6,360 6,404 9,890
262 276 (2,425)

$§ 6098 $ 6,128 $ 12,315
6,779 6,779 8,070
$ 09 $ 09 $ 153
7,347 7,443 8,730
$ 08 § 082 § 141
$ 6360 $ 6,404 $ 9,88
2,448 2,595 3,845
§ 3912 $§ 3809 $ 6,044
6,779 6,779 8,070
$ 058 $ 056 $ 075
7,143 7,158 8,473
$ 055 % 053 %8 071

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidat

Balance at December 31, 2002 ..

Netincome ...............
Distributions to stockholders . .
Issuance/cancellation of stock
OPtONS . ...
Amortization of deferred
compensation . ...........

Balance at December 31, 2003 ..

Net income
Distributions to stockholders . .
Issuance/cancellation of stock
options .................
Amortization of deferred
compensation . . ..........

Balance at December 31,2004 ..

Netincome ...............
Distributions to stockholders . .

Offering proceeds, net of offering

COSES .o v e
Exercise of stock options
Tax benefit of stock option

exercises
Cancellation/issuance of stock

options ..................

Amortization of deferred

compensation . ........... '
Balance at December 31, 2005 ..

i
|

|

NCI, Inc.

(in thousands)

Class A

Class B

ted Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

Additional Total
common stock _common stock pa;dlg:a Deferred Retained stockl?olders’
Shares Amount Shares Amount capital compensation earnings equity
479 $ 9 6,300 $120 $ 1,348 $ — $ 8400 $ 9,877
ol — — — — —_ — 6,098 6,098
- = = = — — @,047)  (4,047)
R — — — 1,759 (1,759) — —
R — — — — 288 — 288
479 9 6,300 120 3,107 (1,471) 10,451 12,216
R B — — — — — 6,128 6,128
R e — — —_ — — (3,480) (3,480)
e — = = - 2401  (2,401) — —
el | — — — — —_ 1,179 — 1,179
479 9 6300 120 5,508 {(2,693) 13,099 16,043
cee | — — — — — — 12,315 12,315
- = = (1,430) — (25.414)  (26,844)
... 5573 106 — — 51,482 — — 51,588
.. 1976 19 — — 75 — — 94
N — — — 2,407 — — 2,407
PR S — (384) 384 — —
R — — — — 1,568 — 1,568
7,028 $134 6,300 $120 $57,658 $ (741) § — $57171

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

[
|
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NCI, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Year ended December 31,
2003 2004 2005
Cash flows from operating activities
NELINCOIMIE « o v vt e e et ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 6,098 $6,128 $12315
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization . ............ ot 1,592 2,993 2,689
(Increase) decrease in cash surrender value of life insurance ............ (70) (70) 334
(Gain) loss on sale and disposal of property and equipment ............. (1) 8 (2)
Non-cash stock compensation eXpense ................cooueevnnnan.. 288 1,179 1,568
Deferred income tax benefit ... ... ... o i —_ —_— (2,657)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of business
combination:
Accounts receivable, IEL . ... .. e e 3,712 (5,297) (8,152)
Prepaid expenses and otherassets .................... ... ... (875) 1,099 (73)
Accounts payable ... ... e 514 1,550 1,768
Accrued expenses/other current liabilities .. ..................... (3,746) 1,848 1,572
Deferredrent . ... i e 4,964 (74) (282)
Duetoemployee . . ...t i e (123) (132) (178)
Net cash provided by operating activities ............. .. ..o iiiinnean... 12,353 9,232 8,902
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment ............ ... . . il (5,241) (647) (1,269)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment . ............... ... ... ... 3 — 7
Cash paid forpurchase of SES . ... .. . (19,181) (L,157) (1,919
Net cash used in investing aCvities .. .........coouneiriernernnenannnn. (24,419) (1,804) (3,181
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net ......... ... . . . — — 51,588
Proceeds from exercise of stock options .............. i, — — 94
Borrowings (repayments) on line of credit, net ............ ... ... .. ... 3,227  (2,511) (12,440)
Borrowings (repayments) ontermloan ............. ..., 14,000 (2,567) (11,433)
Principal payments under capital lease obligations ........................ (90) (170) (269)
Distributions to stockholders .......... . i 4,047) (3,480) (20,978)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ........................ 13,090 (8,728) 6,562
Net change in cash and cash equivalents ............... ... ..., 1,024  (1,300) 12,283
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year .......... ... ... ... ... ..... 316 1,340 40
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year ................................. $ 1340 § 40 §$12,323
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid during the period for:
1910 <1 R O P $ 598 $1367 $ 1,464
TNCOME LAKES © o v vt e ettt ettt e e e e ettt e $ 262 § 276 § 291
Supplemental disclosure of noncash activities:
Equipment acquired under capital leases ............................ $ 78 § 407 $ 119

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NCI, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2005

1. Organization and Business Overview

!

Reincorporation Transaction |

NCI, Inc. (the Company or NCI) was incorporated in Delaware in July 2005.

In September 2005, in anticipation of the initial public offering which was completed in October 2005, the
Company completed a merger and share exchange as a result of which NCI Information Systems, Inc., a Virginia
corporation, became our wholly-owned subsidiary. Pursuant to a share exchange agreement, the majority
stockholder of NCI Information Systex“ns Inc. transferred all of his shares of common stock of NCI Information
Systems, Inc. to our wholly-owned subsnhary, NCI Acquisition, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company. The
majority stockholder received one share of Class B common stock in exchange for each share he transferred. NCI
Information Systems, Inc. then merged with our wholly-owned subsidiary, with NCI Information Systems, Inc.
surviving the merger. As a result of thif"s merger, each issued and outstanding share of common stock of NCI
Information Systems, Inc., other than tFe shares transferred to the wholly-owned subsidiary by the majority
stockholder, was converted into one shfre of Class A common stock. In connection with this merger, NCI
assumed all of the issued and outstanding options to acquire capital stock of NCI Information Systems, Inc., and
these options became exercisable for shares of Class A common stock. As this transaction represented a merger
of entities under common control, the transaction was accounted for similar to a pooling-of-interests whereby all
financial information prior to the transactions has been restated as if the combined entity existed for the periods
presented. Refer to Note 8 for additional description of the capital stock transactions associated with this

transaction. The above transactions are|collectively referred to herein as the “Reincorporation Transaction.”

Business Overview

NCl is a provider of information technology services and solutions to federal government agencies. The
Company’s focus is on designing, implementing, maintaining and upgrading secure information technology (IT)
systems and networks by leveraging thé Company’s skills across four core service offerings: network
engineering; information assurance; sys\\tems development and integration; and enterprise systems management.
The Company provides these services tﬁ;) defense, intelligence and federal civilian agencies. Substantially all of
the Company’s revenue was derived from contracts with the federal government, directly as a prime contractor or
as a subcontractor. The Company condﬁcts business throughout the United States. In addition, the Company

conducts business internationally in support of federal government contracts.

The Company’s operations are subject to certain risks and uncertainties including, among others,
dependence on contracts with federal government agencies, dependence on significant clients, existence of

contracts with fixed pricing, dependencc?L on subcontractors to fulfill contractual obligations, current and potential
competitors with greater resources, dependence on key management personnel, ability to recruit and retain

qualified employees, and uncertainty of ‘i‘future profitability and possible fluctuations in financial results.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of wholly-owned subsidiaries.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts for prior years have been reclassified to conform with the current presentation.
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NCI, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
December 31, 2005

Revenue Recognition

The Company generates its revenue from three different types of contractual arrangements:
time-and-materials contracts; cost-plus contracts; and fixed-price contracts.

Revenue on time-and-material contracts is recognized based on negotiated billable rates multiplied by the
number of hours delivered plus allowable expenses incurred. The Company considers fixed fees under cost-plus
contracts to be earned in proportion to the allowable costs incurred in performance of the contract. Revenue for
performance based fee incentives is recognized as earned.

The Company has three basic categories of fixed-price contracts: fixed unit price; fixed-price level-of-effort;
and fixed-price completion contracts. Revenue on fixed unit price contracts, where specified units are delivered
under service arrangements, s recognized as units are delivered based on the specified price per unit. Revenue
for fixed-price level-of-effort contracts is recognized based upon the number of units of labor actually delivered
multiplied by the negotiated rate for each unit of labor. Revenue on fixed-price completion contracts is
recognized on the percentage of completion method using costs incurred in relation to total estimated costs.

Contract accounting requires judgment relative to assessing risks, estimating contract revenue and costs, and
making assumptions for schedule and technical issues. Due to the size and nature of many of the Company’s
contracts, the estimation of total revenue and cost at completion is complicated and subject to many variables.
Contract costs inciuded material, labor and subcontracting costs, as well as an allocation of allowable indirect
costs. Assumptions have to be made regarding the length of time to complete the contract because costs also
include expected increases in wages and prices for materials. For contract change orders, claims or similar items,
the Company applies judgment in estimating the amounts and assessing the potential for realization. These
amounts are only included in contract value when they can be reliably estimated and realization is considered
probable. Estimates of award fees for certain contracts are also a significant factor in estimating revenue and
profit rates based on actual and anticipated awards. Anticipated losses on contracts are recognized at the time
they become known. '

Major Clients

The Company earned approximately 99% of its revenue from the federal government for each of the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005. Revenue by client sector for each of the three years ended
December 31 was as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2003 % 2004 % 2005 %
- (dollars in thousands) -
Department of Defense and intelligence agencies ..... $83,871 61.5% $119,755 69.9% $140,907 73.7%
Federal civilian agencies ......................... $51,567 37.8% $ 50,596 29.6% $ 49,493 25.8%
Commercial and state & local entities .............. $ 983 07% $ 902 05% $ 919 0.5%

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers cash on deposit and all highly liguid investments with original maturities of three
months or less to be cash and cash equivalents.
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NCI, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

Cash Surrender Value of Life Insur

|

a

December 31, 2005

nce

As of December 31, 2003, the Company had life insurance policies on its majority stockholder and other
officers, for which the Company was the beneficiary, with total face values of approximately $2.4 million.

During 2004, policies with face value:‘s“
covered individuals. As of December 3
which approximates fair value, of $1. O
stockholder and no policies remained a

Property and Equipment

Property, equipment and leasehol
basis over their estimated useful lives,
shorter of the lease term or the useful
property. The following table details th

Property and equipment

Furniture and equipment . .
Leasehold improvements . .
Real property

Less: Accumulated depreciati

Net property and equipment |

The Company recognized depreci
ended December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2

Internal-Use Computer Software

The Company capitalizes costs in
with SOP 98-1, “Accounting for the C
costs are amortized over five years. Int
$61,000 were capitalized in the years e

Goodwill

of approximately $1.4 million were either cancelled or transferred to the
1, 2004, the remaining policy was recorded at its cash surrender value,
million. During 2005, the policy was transferred to the majority

s of December 31, 2005.

d improvements are recorded at cost and are depreciated on a straight-line
}which range from two to seven years for property and equipment, over the
lives of the leasehold or leasehold improvements and over 30 years for real

e net property and equipment at the end of each period:

As of December 31,
2004 2005
(in thousands)

................................. $ 9488  $10,145
................................. 3,950 4,609
................................. 549 549

13,987 15,303
ion and amortization ................ 7,688 9,272
................................. $ 6,299 § 6,031

ation expense of $1.6 million, $1.7 million, and $1.6 million for the years
003, respectively.

%uﬂed to license and implement software for internal use in accordance
(sts of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal-Use.” Such
Frnal-use software costs of approximately $268,000, $104,000, and

nded December 31, 2003, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

(SFAS No. 142), requires that goodwil
periodically for impairment. Annually,

1no longer be amortized against earnings, but instead reviewed
.on October 1, the Company performs a fair value analysis of its reporting

unit(s) using valuation techniques prescnbed in SFAS No. 142. The Company had two reporting units in 2004,

NCI and Scientific and Engineering Sol
has one reporting unit as SES was fully,

determined that no impairment existed

utions, Inc. (SES), a wholly-owned subsidiary. For 2003, the Company
integrated into NCI. Based on the analysis performed, the Company
as of October 1, 2004 or 2005. Goodwill increased by $1.2 million and

$1.9 million for the years ended Decerﬁber 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively, related to the net asset adjustment

and contingent payments related to the

SES acquisition (see Note 11).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
December 31, 2005

Long-Lived Assets (Excluding Goodwill)

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets, a review of long-
lived assets for impairment is performed when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of
such assets may not be recoverable. If an indication of impairment is present, the Company compares the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows to be generated by the asset to its carrying amount. If the undiscounted
future cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the asset, the Company records an impairment loss equal to
the excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its fair value. Any write-downs are treated as permanent
reductions in the carrying amount of the assets. The Company believes there were no indications of impairment
of such assets during 2004 or 2005.

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets consisted of the following:
As of December 31,
2004 2005
(in thousands)
Contract and client relationships . ........ ... ... ... .. ... .... 2,260 2,260
Less: Accumulated amortization . ............. it 792 1,379
1,468 881
Non-compete agreements . ... ..vvvvivnenr e 1,400 1,400
Less: Accumulated amortization .. ........... .. ... ... il 471 943
923 457
Total . e $2,391 $1,338
Contract and client relationships are being amortized over five years based on projected cash flows, which
are proportionate to acquired backlog. Non-compete agreements are being amortized over 36 months based on

their estimated useful lives. Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 was
approximately $1.3 million and $1.1 million, respectively. Future amortization expense related to intangible
assets is expected to be as follows:

For the year ending December 31, (in thousands)
2000 . e $957
2007 o e 354
2008 L e 27

Income Taxes

Prior to October 20, 2003, the Company elected, by the consent of its stockholders, to be taxed as an
S corporation under Subchapter S of the Internal Revenue Code (the Code) and under relevant sections of the tax
law of the various states that conform to the Code. As an S corporation, the net income or loss of the entity was
reportable on the personal tax returns of the stockholders. Accordingly, through October 19, 2005, the Company
was not subject to federal and certain state corporate income tax. However, the Company was subject to income
taxes in certain states in which it conducts business.

In connection with the Company’s initial public offering, effective October 20, 2005, the Company revoked
its status as an S corporation and become subject to taxation as a C corporation. Disclosures regarding accounting
for income taxes as of and for the year ended December 31, 2005 are at Note 15.
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The unaudited pro forma income
presented in accordance with SFAS N
C corporation and thus subject to fede:
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial state
United States requires management to
and liabilities and disclosure of contin
reported amounts of revenue and expel
estimates.

of
=]

n

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company’s assets that are ex

NCI, Inc.

nsolidated Financial Statements—{(Continued)

December 31, 2005

tax information included in the statements of operations and Note 16 is

. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, as if the Company were taxed as a

ral and certain state income taxes for periods prior to October 20, 2005.

ments in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets

ent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
ses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those

posed to credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and

accounts receivable. Accounts receivable consist primarily of billed and unbilled amounts due from various

agencies of the Federal Government or
Company historically has not experien

b
Ci

prime contractors doing business with the Federal Government. The
ed significant losses related to accounts receivable and, therefore,

believes that the credit risk related to accounts receivable is minimal. The Company maintains cash balances that

|
may at times exceed federally insured

institutions and believes the credit risk|

[

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Estimated fair values of our finane

imits. The Company maintains this cash at high-credit quality financial
related to these cash balances is minimal.

ial instruments were determined by management using available market

information and appropriate valuation I%nethodologies. Considerable judgment is necessary to interpret market
data and develop estimated fair Values.ﬂAccordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative
of the amounts the Company could realize on disposition of the financial instruments. The use of different market

assumptions and/or estimation methodo

logies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

The carrying values of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses and bank loans approximate their fair values.

Disclosure about fair value of fina

ncial instruments is based on pertinent information available to

management as of December 31, 2005. Although the Company is not aware of any factors that would

significantly affect the reasonable fair v

alue amounts, such amounts have not been comprehensively revalued for

purposes of these financial statements since that date and current estimates of fair value may differ significantly

from the amounts presented herein.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company uses derivative finar
on its line of credit. None of the derivati

recorded as either assets or liabilities in|

icial instruments to manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates

ves held by the Company are accounted for as hedges and all are
the consolidated balance sheet, and periodically adjusted to fair value.

Adjustments to reflect the changes in th:e fair values of the derivatives are reflected in earnings. The Company

does not hold or issue derivative financi

al instruments for trading purposes.
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NCI, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements-—(Continued)
December 31, 2005

Earnings Per Share

SFAS No. 128, Earnings Per Share, requires presentation of basic and diluted earnings per share. Basic
earnings per share exclude dilution and are computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding for the period. The computation of earnings per share presented is for both Class A
and Class B common stock.

Diluted earnings per share reflect potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue
common stock were exercised or converted into common stock. Diluted earnings per share include the
incremental effect of stock options calculated using the treasury stock method.

The following details the historical and pro forma computation of basic and diluted earnings per common
share (Class A and Class B) for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively, and are
adjusted for the 1-for-1.9 reverse stock split discussed in Note 8:

Year ended December 31,
2003 2004 2005

(in thousands, except per share data)
Historical NetIncome ... ... i e e e e $6,098 $6,128 $12,315
Weighted average number of basic shares outstanding during the period .. ... 6,779 6,779 8,070
Dilutive effect of stock options after application of treasury stock method . . . . 568 664 660
Weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding during the period ... 7,347 7,443 8,730
Basic earnings pershare ...ttt $ 0.90 $090 S 1.53
Diluted earnings pershare .............. i ittt $ 0.83 $082 §$§ 141
Proformanetineome . ... ...t e $3,912 $3,809 $ 6,044
Weighted average number of basic shares outstanding during the period .. ... 6,779 6,779 8,070
Dilutive effect of stock options after application of treasury stock method . . . . 364 379 403
Weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding during the period ... 7,143 7,158 8,473
Pro forma basic earnings pershare . . ......... ... .. .. oo $ 0.58 $05 $ 075
Pro forma diluted earnings pershare ........... ... ... ... . i $ 055 $053 §$ 071

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (APB No. 25) using the intrinsic-value method. Under
this method, the Company recognized approximately $0.3 million, $1.2 million and $1.6 million in compensation
expense for stock options during 2003, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The Company issued non-qualified stock
options to employees at various times during 2003 and 2004 with vesting periods ranging from zero to seven
years and any related expense for the amount by which the fair market value at the date of grant exceeds the
exercise price is being amortized over the applicable vesting periods.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
December 31, 2005

SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS No. 123), as amended, requires the
disclosure of pro forma effects on net mcome computed as if the Company accounted for the stock options under

the fair value method. For the options 1(%sued during 2003, 2004 and 2005, the fair value of the options was
estimated using the minimum value me\thod assuming a weighted average risk free interest rate of 3.4%, 3.7%
and 4.0% respectively, with no dividends expected to be paid over the expected life of five to seven years. The

pro forma effect on net income is shown in the following table:

‘\ Year ended December 31,
2003 2004 2008

“ (in thousands, except per share data)
Net inCOme as TEPOTted ...+t i ettt ettt $6,098  $6,128 $12,315
Add: Stock-based employee compensatﬁon expense as reported under APB

No. 25 for all awards, net of related tax effects .................... ... 288 1,179 1,568
Deduct: Stock-based compensation exp‘?nse determined under SFAS No. 123

for all awards, net of related tax EFFECES o oo (382) (1,283) (1,621)
Pro formanetincome ............. \ ............................... $6,004 $6,024 $12,262

New Accounting Pronouncements to be Adopted

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004),

|

Share-Based Payment (SFAS No. 123(R)), which is a revision of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation. SFAS No. 123(R) supersedes APB No. 25, and amends SFAS No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows.

The Company plans to adopt SFASH No. 123(R) effective January 1, 2006. SFAS No. 123(R) requires all
share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial
statements based on their fair values (i.e., pro forma disclosure is no longer an alternative to financial statement
recognition). Because all of the Company s outstanding options as of December 31, 2005, were issued while the
Company was a non-public entity and tlie Company did not use the fair-value-based method of accounting, the
Company is required to apply the prospective transition method of accounting under SFAS No. 123(R) as of the
required effective date. Under the prospective method, for options issued by a non-public entity accounting for its
equity-based awards using the 1nmn81c-Yalue method under APB No. 23, the entity would continue to apply APB
No. 25 in future periods to awards outstz\i\ndmg at the date they adopt SFAS No. 123(R). All awards granted,
modified or settled after the date of adoption would be accounted for using the measurement, recognition and
attribution provisions of SFAS No. 123(‘R) Although the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) is expected to affect the
measurement of share-based equity awards to employees after adoption, management does not expect the
adoption would have a material effect ofi the Company’s consolidated results of operations, cash flows or
financial position. Information about the fair value of stock options and the pro forma impact on the Company’s
net earnings for the years ended Decembler 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 can be found in the Stock-Based

Compensation section of Note 2.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

December 31, 2005

3. Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consist of billed and unbilled amounts at December 31, 2004 and 2005 as follows:

Billed receivables:
Billedreceivables ......... ... . .

Total billed receivables . ......... . it
Total unbilled receivables . ... ... ... .. i

Total accountsreceivable ........ ... ... . ... . . i
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts . ........................

Total accounts receivable, net ........ ... ... .. .

Unbilled receivables primarily consist of fees withheld by the client in accordance with the contract terms
and conditions that will be billed upon contract completion and approval of indirect rates.

4. Other Accrued Expenses/Liabilities

Other accrued expenses and liabilities consists of the following:

Accrued healthclaims ........... .. i
Current portion of capital lease obligation ......................
Due to employee, current portion . ...,
Other accrued BXPENSES .. .. ..ottt

Total other accrued expenses/liabilities ... ......................

5. Distributions Payable

As of December 31,

2004 2005

(in thousands)

$20,045  $29,364
17,824 16,008
37,869 45,372
1,064 1,924
38,933 47,296
475 685
$38,458  $46,611

As of December 31,
2004 2005
(in thousands)
$1,713 $1,654

242 276

141 —

850 1,006
$2,946 $2,936

In connection with the revocation of the S corporation tax status, the Board of Directors approved a
distribution to the stockholders of record on the date of revocation representing the balance of undistributed
S corporation earnings through the date of revocation. The distribution amount is to be determined after giving
effect to the operating results through the revocation date with the filing of the final S corporation tax return. In
January of 2006, the Company paid approximately $5.9 million in the final distribution of previously
undistributed S corporation earnings to the stockholders of record at the S Corporation termination date. This

amount is reflected as a current liability as of December 31, 2005.

6. Loan and Security Agreement

On December 23, 2003, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement that provides for a

$30.0 million revolving note and a $14.0 million term note.
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The revolving note provides a line of credit of up to $30.0 million limited to a percentage of the Company’s
eligible receivables as defined in the line of credit agreement. As such, as of December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005,
approximately $25.3 million, $26.8 n‘]lillion, and $30.0 million, respectively, was available on the line of credit.
The unpaid principal balance of the li,‘ne of credit bears interest based on the LIBOR plus applicable margins.

As of December 31, 2003, 2004 1“rand 2005, the interest rate was 3.7%, 4.5%, and 6.9%, respectively. The
outstanding borrowings are collaterali‘zed by a security interest in substantially all assets of the Company. The
bank also requires a direct as51gnment of all the Company’s contracts at the bank’s discretion. The line of credit
is renewable on December 31, 2006. For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2003, the interest
expense was approximately $303, 000‘ $584,000, and $644,000, respectively.

As of December 31, 2003, 2004 ‘%md 20085, the term note had an outstanding balance of $14.0 million, $11.4
million and $0.0, respectively. The term note balance was paid in full on October 26, 2005 using the proceeds of
the initial public offering. The note bears interest based on LIBOR plus applicable margins. The interest rate at

December 31, 2003, 2004 and Octobe"r 2005 was 4.1%, 5.0% and 6.2%, respectively.

The Loan and Security Agreement requires that the Company meet certain financial covenants including a
minimum net worth, a funded debt ratio and a fixed charge coverage ratio. The Company was in compliance with
the financial covenants of the line of credlt at December 31, 2005. Substantially all assets of the Company have
been pledged as collateral under this L‘\oan and Security Agreement.

In July 2005, the Loan and Security Agreement was amended to recognize the agreements related to the
Reincorporation Transaction, the mma‘l public offering of Class A common stock, and to provide a time loan of
up to $15 million to finance the paymc“nt of a portion of a distribution to the stockholders of the Company. As a
result of this amendment, certain financial covenants were amended within the Loan and Security Agreement to

accommodate these transactions.

Under the terms of this amendment the Company is permitted to make distributions out of its accumulated
adjustments account for previously undistributed S corporation earnings, of which up to $15 million would come
from the time loan and will bear interest at LIBOR plus 45 basis points, and the remainder from the line of credit.
In July 2005, the Company made an $18 million distribution to the existing stockholders of the Company. Of this
amount, $15 million was financed by the time loan, and the balance from the existing line of credit. The time

loan was paid off in October 2005 upor‘ receipt of proceeds from the offering.

On March 14, 2006, the Companylentered into a new five year Loan and Security Agreement that provides a
line of credit of $60.0 million. The borrowing capacity under the new Loan and Security Agreement consists of a
revolving credit facility with an original principal amount of up to $60.0 million and a swingline facility with an
original principal amount of up to $5.0 lrmlhon The new Loan and Security Agreement also has a $30.0 million
accordion feature allowing the Company to increase its borrowing capacity to up to $90.0 million, subject to
obtaining commitments for the 1ncrerne{1tal capacity from existing or new lenders. The outstanding balance of the
facility accrues interest based on LIBOR plus an applicable margin, ranging from 100 to 175 basis points, based
on a ratio of the Company’s funded deb} to earnings. The Agreement requires that the Company meet certain
financial covenants including a rmmmum net worth, a funded debt ratio, and a fixed charge coverage ratio.
Substantially all assets of the Company have been pledged as collateral under this Loan and Security Agreement.

The Loan and Security Agreement that was in place on December 31, 2005 was terminated on this same date.
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7. Derivatives

On March 13, 2001, the Company entered into a Master Swap Agreement. In 2001, under this agreement,
the Company entered into an interest rate swap and a collar to swap LIBOR-based variable rates on the
Company’s line of credit for fixed interest rates. The interest rate swap expired March 15, 2004, and the collar
expired March 15, 2003. The Company did not designate the swap or collar as a hedge, therefore, at
December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005, the change in fair value of approximately $214,000, $48,600, and $0,
respectively, was recorded as an increase in interest expense.

On December 23, 2003, the Company entered into an interest rate swap under this agreement, with an initial
notional amount of $14.0 million and a monthly amortization of $233,333, to swap a LIBOR-based variable rate
on the Company’s term note for fixed interest rates. The interest rate swap expires January 3, 2006. The
Company did not designate the swap as a hedge. Therefore, at December 31, 2003, the change in fair value of
approximately $55,000 was recorded as additional interest expense, for the the year ended December 31, 2004,
$91,000 was recorded as a reduction in interest expense, and for the year ended December 31, 2005, $11,000 was
recorded as additional interest expense for the change in fair value. In October 2005, the Company terminated the
agreement and received a termination payment of $26,000, which was applied to outstanding fair value at the
date of termination.

8. Stockholders’ Equity and Related Items
Common Stock

As described in Note 1, the Company completed the reincorporation of its business in September, 2005. As
a result, the Company maintains two classes of common stock. In connection with the initial public offering, on
October 3, 2005 the Company effected a 1-for-1.9 reverse stock split of both its Class A and Class B common
stock. The effect of this reincorporation, including the reverse stock split, has been reflected retroactively in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Holders of Class A common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record, and holders of
Class B common stock are entitled to ten votes for each share held of record, except with respect to any “going
private transaction,” as to which each share of Class A common stock and Class B common stock are both
entitled to one vote per share. The Class A common stock and the Class B common stock vote together as a
single class on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders, including the election of directors, except as
required by law. Holders of the Company’s common stock do not have cumulative voting rights in the election of
directors.

Holders of common stock are entitled to receive, when and if declared by the board of directors from
time-to-time, such dividends and other distributions in cash, stock or property from the Company’s assets or
funds legally available for such purposes. Each share of Class A common stock and Class B common stock is
equal in respect of dividends and other distributions in cash, stock or property, except that in the case of stock
dividends, only shares of Class A common stock will be distributed with respect to the Class A common stock
and only shares of Class B common stock will be distributed with respect to Class B common stock.

Each share of Class B common stock is convertible into one share of Class A common stock at any time at
the option of the Class B stockholder, and in certain other circumstances.

F-16




NCI, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
December 31, 2005

Initial Public Offering

On October 20, 20035, a registrati on statement (Registration No. 333-127006) relating to the Company’s
initial public offering of Class A common stock was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange

Commission. All 5,922,500 shares of é:lass A common stock registered under the registration statement,
including 772,500 shares covered by the underwriters’ over-allotment option, were sold at a price to the public of
$10.50 per share. 5,572,500 shares we‘}e sold by the Company and 350,000 shares were sold by the selling
stockholders identified in the registratibn statement. The offering closed on October 26, 2005. The aggregate
gross proceeds from the shares of Clas‘s A common stock sold by the Company were $58.5 million, which were
offset by transaction costs of approxm{ately $6.9 million, resulting in net proceeds of $51.6 million which is

reflected within equity.

J
i
Stock Options l

The Board of Directors of the Coﬁ1pany duly adopted and approved the 2003 Performance Incentive Plan on
January 31, 2003. The Board of Directc\>rs of the Company has adopted the 2005 Performance Incentive Plan (the
Plan) which has been approved by the HCompamy s stockholders, and under which 3,157,895 shares of Class A
common stock were reserved for 1 issuance under the Plan. Stock options granted under the 2003 Performance
Incentive Plan, together with certain non- qualified stock options granted to two executives in 2000 and 2001,
were assumed under the 2005 Perform%nce Incentive Plan and, thereafter, became exercisable for shares of
Class A common stock. The 2005 Performance Incentive Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options
and non-qualified stock options, and thﬁa grant or sale of restricted shares of common stock to the Company’s
directors, employees and consultants. The Board of Directors of the Company administers the Plan.

Stock options granted in 2003 and|2004 under the Plan will fully vest over a period of zero to seven years
from the date of grant in accordance with the individual stock option agreement. The achievement of certain
performance criteria, or a change in corgtrol as defined by the option agreements may accelerate the vesting
period. Stock options granted during 2q05 will fully vest over a period of three to five years from the date of
grant in accordance with the individual l\\stock option agreement.

During 2003, 2004 and 2005, the ¢ éompany granted options to purchase 693,925, 604,716 and 89,471 shares
of common stock, respectively, to certam employees and directors under the Plan. Stock-based compensation
cost related to stock option grants has been reflected in the net income for the years ended December 31, 2003,
2004 and 2005 as certain options granted had an exercise price less than the fair market value of the underlying
common stock at the date of the grant. Stock compensation expense and pro forma information regarding net
income as if the Company had accounted for its employee stock options under the fair value method is included
in Note 2.
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Stock option activity is as follows:
Weighted )

average exercise

Options price per share
(in thousands, except per share

data)

QOutstanding at December 31,2002 ...................... 589  lessthan $ 0.02
Granted ......... 694 6.58
Forfeited/cancelled ............ ... ... ... .. ... .... 145 6.65
Outstanding at December 31,2003 ...................... 1,138 $ 3.17
Granted . ... 605 3.81
Forfeited/cancelled .......... ... .. v .. 47 8.14
Outstanding at December 31,2004 ...................... 1,696 $ 3.26
Granted . ... .o i 89 10.06
Forfeited/cancelled ........... ... ... ... ... ... .. ... 169 7.65
Exercised .......... .. e 976 0.10
Outstanding at December 31,2005 .. ...........c.cuvu... 640 § 7.88

The weighted-average fair value of the stock options granted for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004,
and 2005, was $9.86, $6.78, and $9.24, respectively. Fair value of the common stock underlying the options was
based on contemporaneous quarterly valuations performed by management using the public company method
under the market approach.

Information regarding options outstanding at December 31, 2005 is summarized below:

Weighted Weighted

average average
Number of exercise remaining Options
Range of exercise prices options price contractual life exercisable
(in thousands) (in years) (in thousands)
$100-%200 ... 5 $ 1.90 7.8 5
$600-8%700 .......... i, 394 6.65 72 5
$10.00-F11.00 ... 241 10.02 8.8 16

9. Leases

The Company leases office space, equipment, and automobiles under operating leases that expire on various
dates through December 31, 2013. Several of the leases contain escalation clauses ranging from 2.5% to 5.0% per
year, which are reflected in the amounts below. The Company is also responsible for certain operating expenses.

The Company has entered into certain capital lease obligations with various expiration dates through

December 2009. In October 2003, the Company entered into a lease line of credit to finance various PC and
networking equipment. The applicable interest rates on the capital leases range from 2.5% to 9.3%.
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The following amounts have been capitalized and are included in property and equipment:

As of December 31,

2004 2005

(in thousands)

Telephone equipment .. ... R R ERERERES $477 $ 477
PC and networking equ1pment ................................. 452 569
Office fumniture and other equlpment ............................ 56 39
985 1,085
Less: Accumulated amortization ............c..o.vevreiinreann... 355 605
$630 § 480

The annual amortization cost is included in the Depreciation and amortization expense line in the
Consolidated Statements of Income.

Minimum lease payments under the non-cancelable operating leases and the capital leases are as follows:

Capital Operating
leases leases

(in thousands)

For the year ending December 31,

2006 .. $294 $ 4434
2007 .. 165 3,704
2008 ... 41 3,464
2000 . e 3 3,493
2010 .. e — 2,984
Thereafter ... i e — 7,122

Total minimum lease payments ............. .. ..o iiiianon.. 503 $25,201

Amounts representing interest . ............c....ieiiiiaa.. 23

Present value of net minimum‘ lease payments . ................... $480

The Company incurred rent expenstp after the impact of the amortization of deferred rent expense, under
operating leases of $2.7 million, $2.9 mullion and $3.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and
2005, respectively.

10. Profit Sharing and Pension Plans

The Company has a 401(k) profit sharing plan that covers substantially all employees meeting certain
criteria. The plan is a “defined contribution plan” whereby participants have the option of contributing to the
plan. The plan provides for the Compangl to match 50% of the participant’s contribution not to exceed 2.5% of
the participant’s total compensation. Pammpams are 100% vested in their employee contributions immediately.
The participants become fully vested in hthe employer contributions over five years of service. Subsequent to
December 31, 2005, the Board of Directors approved an amendment to the plan which changed the vesting

J
schedule for participants to become fully vested in employer contributions over four years of service.

|

The Company’s contributions for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 were approximately
$1.1 million, $1.1 million, and $1.6 million respectively. The trustee of this 401(k) plan is New York Life Trust
Company.
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The Company is also required to contribute to a union pension plan under a Collective Bargaining
Agreement with the International Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers for eligible employees on
one of its contracts. The current agreement expires December 31, 2006. For years ended December 31, 2003,
2004 and 2005, the contribution amounts were approximately $24,000, $19,000, and $12,000 respectively.

For certain of its contracts, the Company is required to adopt a 401(k) retirement plan for eligible
employees. For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005, the contribution amounts were
approximately $81,000, $116,000 and $100,000, respectively.

Prior to 2005, the Company maintained a separate 401(k) plan that covered substantially all employees
meeting certain criteria of SES. The plan was a “defined contribution plan” whereby participants have the option
of contributing to the plan. The plan provided for the Company to match 100% of the participant’s contribution
not to exceed 6% of the participant’s total compensation. Participants are 100% vested in their employee
contributions immediately. The participants become fully vested in the employer contributions over five years of
service. The Company contributions for the year ended December 31, 2004 were approximately $650,000. In
2005, the SES plan was merged into the Company’s plan.

11. Acquisition of Scientific and Engineering Solutions, Inc.

The Company acquired all the issued and outstanding shares of SES stock in December 2003. The total
consideration at closing was cash of $20.5 million, per the Agreement, less closing indebtedness. The Agreement
allowed for adjustment of the purchase price for the net asset adjustments as determined in the closing statements
due ninety days after closing, a contingent payment of up to $3.0 million, and an earnout payment of up to $5.5
million based on reaching certain revenue and gross margin goals determined as of December 31, 2004. During
2004, the Company paid approximately $1.0 million in contingent payments to former SES stockholders. No
earnout payments have been earned and no payments are anticipated. In March 2005, the Company paid an
additional $1.9 million in contingent payments which was not included in goodwill as of December 31, 2004 as
the triggering events for such payments had not occurred at that time. The $1.9 million represents the final
contingent payment related to the SES acquisition.

The transaction was accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, whereby the
net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recognized at their estimated
fair market values at the date of acquisition. The identifiable intangible assets consisted of $2.3 million of
contracts and client relationships and $1.4 million for the value of a non-compete agreement. At the time of the
acquisition, the contracts and related customer relationships had an expected useful life of approximately five
years. The non-compete agreement is being amortized on a straight-line basis over the three-year term of the
agreement. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, goodwill arising from the transaction is not being amortized.

12. Related Party Transactions

The Company provided support services on an as-needed basis under a blanket purchase order with Net
Commerce Corporation, a government contractor originally owned by the majority stockholder of the Company.
On April 1, 2004, Net Commerce Corporation was sold to a family member of the majority stockholder. For the
years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005, the revenue for services and expenses incurred under this
purchase order were approximately $107,000, $34,000 and $0, respectively, of which $104,000, $34,000 and $0,
respectively, is included in accounts receivable at December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005.
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es from Net Commerce Corporation of approximately $124,000 and

$1.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, of which $19,000 and $67,000,

respectively, were included in accounts p

ayable in those respective years. No services were purchased and no

amounts were included in accounts payable for the year ended December 31, 2003.

The Company has used private airc
business. These aircraft are owned direc

raft to accommodate the travel needs of our executives for Company
ly or indirectly by Michael W. Solley, the President and a director of the

Company. The Company has paid appro}(imately $8,000, $165,000 and $80,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005, resﬁ)ectively, to Mr. Solley or his affiliates as reimbursement for fees and

. . . 1
expenses associated with the business us

All transactions with related parties
l
13. Contingencies

Government Audits

Payments to the Company on federa

agencies of the federal government. Audi
agencies through 2002. In the opinion ofj
unaudited years will not have a material
liquidity.

Litigation

The Company is party to various leg

. I
normal course of business. The Companj/‘

e of these aircraft.

have been conducted based on then current market conditions.

al government contracts are subject to adjustment upon audit by various

ts of costs and the related payments have been performed by the various

management, the final determination of costs and related payments for
effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or

al actions, claims, government inquires, and audits resulting from the
believes that the probability is remote that any resulting liability will

have a material effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

|
|

14. Business Segment Information

The Company reports operating results and financial data in one operating segment. This segment provides
information technology solutions through its four core service offerings: network engineering; information
assurance; systems development and mtegrauon and enterprise systems management. The accounting policies of
the segment are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies in Note 2 to the

|
financial statements. The Company evalu\
income taxes. Financial information conc

financial statements.

Although the Company describes fo
Company’s business operations, the Com
upon those service offerings. In addition
capture key financial information such as
because these offerings cut across all ope

may be provided on any single contract or

revenue by service offerings.

I

:ates the performance of its operating segment based on income before
erning the Company’s reportable segment is shown in the consolidated

ir core service offerings to provide a better understanding of the
pany does not manage its business or allocate capital resources based

, the underlying accounting and forecasting systems are not designed to

revenue, costs and capital expenditures by such service offerings
rating divisions of the Company and more than one service offering
task order. Therefore, it is not practical for the Company to report
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15. Provision for Income Taxes

Effective October 20, 2005, the Company revoked its status as an S corporation and become subject to
taxation as a C corporation. Under the S corporation provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, the individual
stockholder included his pro rata portion of the Company’s taxable income in his personal income tax returns.
Accordingly, through October 19, 2003, the Company was not subject to federal and certain state corporate
income taxes. However, the Company was subject to income taxes in certain states in which it conducts business.

As aresult of this change in tax status, the Company recorded deferred tax assets and liabilities for the
temporary differences between the book and tax basis of assets and liabilities at the date of revocation. The
Company recognized a net benefit of $3.5 million for the impact of these amounts as a component of the
provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Significant components of the provision for income taxes are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2004 2005
(in thousands)
Current
Federal .. ... $— $— $ —
StateandLocal ............. ... i 262 276 232
Total Current . ... 262 276 232
Deferred
Federal ........... .. . . — —_ (2,184)
StateandLocal .......... ... .. ... .. .. . . ... — — “473)
TotalDeferred . ............. ... iiiiiin.. — _ (2,657)
Total Income Tax Provision (Benefit) ..................... $262 $276  $(2,425)

The differences between the benefit from income taxes at the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate of 34%
and those reported in the statements of operations are as follows:

Year ended

December 31
2005

(in thousands)
Federal income tax at statutoryrate of 34% ................ccoiiiii.... $ 3,362
Income not subject to tax at statutoryrate of 34% ............. ... ... (2,674)
Tax benefit recognized in connection with revocation of S Corporation

] 21 PN (3,474)

S1ate INCOME tAXES v\t vttt ettt et ettt e e 363
Permanent differences .. ... e (2)
Total benefit from INCOME tAXES .. ..ttt i et $(2,425)

Deferred income taxes arise from temporary differences in the recognition of income and expense for
income tax purposes and were computed using the liability method reflecting the net tax effects of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial statement purposes and the
amounts used for income tax purposes.
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For the year ended December 31, 2005 the Company credited $2.4 million to additional paid in capital

NCI, Inc.

December 31, 2005

representing the excess tax benefits associated with stock based compensation.

The Company has a net operating I¢
million that will expire in 2025.

ss carry forward for federal income tax purposes of approximately $7.3

Components of the Company’s defeTrred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carry forward

I

Accrued vacation and compensation

|

Stock-based compensation

Deferred rent

Total deferred tax ass‘

Deferred tax liabilities
Property and equipment .
Intangible assets . ...... ‘

Total deferred tax lia ?ilities

I
Net deferred tax assets

Although realization is not assured,
assets will be realized.

|

16. Pro Forma Income Taxes (unaudited)

Effective October 20, 2005, the Company revoked its S corporation status, and as a result, is subject to
federal and state income taxes as a C corporatwn Through October 19, 2005, the Company was taxed as an S

Allowance for doubtful ac“counts

December 31,
2005

(in thousands)

$2,826
1,263
216
1,764
265

6,334

1,129
141

1,270
$5,064

management believes it is more likely than not that all deferred tax

Corporation and generally not subject to federal and certain state corporate income tax. The Company was

subject to income taxes in certain states m which it conducts business that do not recognize the S corporation tax
status. The statements of operations for thc years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 include a pro forma
provision for income taxes that would have been recorded if the Company was a C corporation, calculated in

accordance with SFAS No. 109.
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Significant components of the pro forma provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2003,
2004 and 2005 are as follows:

2003 2004 2005
(in thousands)

Current:

Federal ........ ... . . i $2,265  $2,720  $2,598

Stateandlocal ........ ... ... ... ... . .. ... ... 470 674 621
Total CUITEIL .ot it et et 2,735 3,394 3,219
Deferred:

Federal ........ 0 i 227) (667) 534

Stateandlocal ......... ... .. ... . .. i, (60) (132) 92
Total deferred benefit ........... ... ... ... ... . ... ... (287) (799) 626
Total income tax provision .............. ..., $2,448  $2,595  $3,845

The reconciliation between statutory U.S. federal income tax rate and those reported in the pro forma
income tax information in the consolidated statements of income for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004

and 2005 is as follows:

2003 2004 2005
Statutory federal income taxrate . .......... .. ... ... .. 340% 340%  34.0%
State and local taxes, net of federaltaxes ................ 43 5.6 4.8
OtheT . e 0.2 0.9 _Q_l

385% 405%  38.9%

Other differences include, among other things, the nondeductible portion of meals and entertainment,
nondeductible penalties and fines, nondeductible dues, and nondeductible officers’ life insurance premiums, as
well as any tax-exempt items of income.
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SCHEDUI“,E II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

\\
«1
‘\
Allowance for doubtful accounts:

Balance at beginning of period ... ...

Additions atcost .................!
Deductions .. ...........c.covinn.
Othercharges . ....................

Balance atend of period ............
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Year ended December 31,

2003

2004

2005

(in thousands, except per share data)

$200
275

$475

$475
210

$685
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EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-129168)
pertaining to the 2005 Performance Incentive Plan of NCI, Inc. of our report dated February 23, 2006, with
respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of NCI, Inc. included in the Annual Report
(Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2005.
/s/  ERNST & YOUNG LLP

McLean, VA
March 27, 2006



EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION

\ Section 302 Certification

I, Charles K. Narang, Chief Executive|Officer of NCI, Inc., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of NCI, Inc;
|
2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not mislea‘ding with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the fir}ancial statements, and other financial information included in this annual
report, fairly present in all material resRects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods preFented in this annual report;

4, The registrant’s other certifyingl officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure ?ontrols and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under 01”1r supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,

particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectivenesE of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of

the period covered by this annual ré\ﬁport based on such evaluation; and

(¢) Disclosed in this annual rebort any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affe%t, the registrant’s interna! control over financial reporting; and

|
5. The registrant’s other certifying o’l\\fﬁcer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s
Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

ﬂ

(a) All significant deficiencies 9nd material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control

. . ) ] . . Y
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

|
(b) Any fraud, whether or not rr'nlaterial, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 30, 2006 /s/ CHARLES K. NARANG

Charles K. Narang
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION
Section 302 Certification

I, Judith L. Bjornaas, Chief Financial Officer of NCI, Inc., certify that:

1. T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of NCI, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this annual report based on such evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this annual report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s
Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 30, 2006 /s/  JUDITH L. BJORNAAS
Judith L. Bjornaas
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.1

Section 906 Certification

In connection with the annual report on Form 10-K of NCI, Inc. (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2005, as filed with the Sec‘lurmes and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the
undersigned Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company certifies, to the best of his
knowledge and belief pursuant to 18 U. S\C Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and “

(2) The information contained i 1ln the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations o“f the Company.

Date: March 30, 2006 /s/  CHARLES K. NARANG

Charles K. Narang
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

A signed original of the written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to NCI, Inc. and will
be retained by NCJ, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.




EXHIBIT 32.2
Section 906 Certification

In connection with the annual report on Form 10-K of NCI, Inc. (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2005, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), the
undersigned Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company certifies, to the best of her
knowledge and belief pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 30, 2006 /s/  JuDITH L. BJORNAAS
Judith L. Bjornaas
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

A signed original of the written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to NCI, Inc. and will
be retained by NCI, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

End of Filing
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